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Linde financial highlights

January to December

in € million 2010 2009 Change
Share

Closing price 84.16 34.9%
Year high 87.95 31.1%
Year low 49.66 54.5%
Market capitalisation (at year-end closing price) 14,215 36.0%
Adjusted earnings per sharel 4.58 50.4%
Earnings per share - undiluted 3.51 69.2 %
Number of shares outstanding (in 000s) 168,907 0.8%
Sales 11,211 14.8 %
Operating profit2 2,385 22.6%
Operating margin 21.3% +140bp3
EBIT before amortisation of fair value adjustments 1,460 32.4%
Earnings after taxes on income 653 62.9%
Number of employees 47,731 1.5%
Gases Division

Sales 8,932 14.5%
Operating profit 2,378 16.3%
Operating margin 26.6% +40bp3
Engineering Division

Sales 2,311 6.5%
Operating profit 210 29.0%
Operating margin 9.1% +190bp3

1 Adjusted for the effects of the purchase price allocation.
2 EBITDA including share of income from associates and joint ventures.

3 Basis points.




The Linde Group

The Linde Group is a world-leading gases and engineering company
with approximately 48,500 employees working in more than 100
countries worldwide. In the 2010 financial year it achieved sales of
EUR 12.868bn. The strategy of The Linde Group is geared towards
long-term profitable growth and focuses on the expansion of its
international business with forward-looking products and services.
Linde acts responsibly towards its shareholders, business partners,
employees, society and the environment - in every one of its busi-
ness areas, regions and locations across the globe. The company is
committed to technologies and products that unite the goals of cus-
tomer value and sustainable development.

Organisation

The Group comprises three divisions: Gases and Engineering (the
two core divisions) and Gist (logistics services). The largest division,
Gases, has four operating segments: Western Europe, the Americas,
Asia & Eastern Europe, and South Pacific & Africa, which are subdi-
vided into nine Regional Business Units (RBUs). The Gases Division
also includes the two Global Business Units (GBUs) Healthcare (med-
ical gases) and Tonnage (on-site) as well as the two Business Areas
(BAs) Merchant & Packaged Gases (liquefied and cylinder gases) and
Electronics (electronic gases).
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Gases Division

The Linde Group is a world leader in the international gases market.
The company offers a wide range of compressed and liquefied gases
as well as chemicals and is the partner of choice across a huge variety
of industries. Linde gases are used, for example, in the energy sec-
tor, steel production, chemical processing, environmental protection
and welding, as well as in food processing, glass production and
electronics. The company is also investing in the expansion of its
fast-growing Healthcare business, i.e. medical gases, and is a lead-
ing global player in the development of environmentally friendly
hydrogen technologies.

Engineering Division

Linde Engineering is successful throughout the world, with its focus
on promising market segments such as olefin plants, natural gas
plants and air separation plants, as well as hydrogen and synthe-
sis gas plants. In contrast to virtually all competitors, the company
can rely on its own extensive process engineering know-how in the
planning, project development and construction of turnkey indus-
trial plants. Linde plants are used in a wide variety of fields: in the
petrochemical and chemical industries, in refineries and fertiliser
plants, to recover air gases, to produce hydrogen and synthesis
gases, to treat natural gas and in the pharmaceutical industry.
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Our company values

Our vision

We will be the leading global
gases and engineering company,
admired for our people, who
provide innovative solutions
that make a difference to the
world.

Front cover fold-out:
(3: Linde financial highlights, C4: Corporate profile
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Executive Board

Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle

Born 1949

Doctorate in Engineering (Dr.-Ing.)

Degree in Economics and Engineering (Dipl.-Wirtsch.-Ing.)
Chief Executive Officer

Responsible for the following global and central functions:
Communications & Investor Relations, Corporate Strategy, Group
Human Resources, Group Information Services, Group Legal,
Innovation Management, Internal Audit, SHEQ (Safety, Health,
Environment, Quality) and Gist

Member of the Executive Board since 2002

Dr Aldo Belloni

Born 1950

Doctorate in Chemical Engineering (Dr.-Ing.)

Responsible for the Engineering Division, the operating
segments Western Europe and Asia & Eastern Europe, the Global
Business Unit Tonnage (on-site) and the Business Area
Electronics (electronic gases)

Member of the Executive Board since 2000

J. Kent Masters

Born 1960

BS Chemical Engineering

MBA Finance

Responsible for the operating segments Americas and

South Pacific & Africa, the Global Business Unit Healthcare and
the Business Area Merchant & Packaged Gases (liquefied and
cylinder gases)

Member of the Executive Board since 2006

Georg Denoke

Born 1965

Degree in Information Science

Degree in Business Administration (BA)

Responsible for the following global and central functions:
Capital Expenditure, Financial Control, Group Accounting &
Reporting, Group Treasury, Growth & Performance,

Mergers & Acquisitions, Procurement, Risk Management and Tax
Human Resources Director

Member of the Executive Board since 2006
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From left to right: Georg Denoke, J. Kent Masters, Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle, Dr Aldo Belloni.
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Letter to the shareholders

Ledd ity atand Gallevcte

Following the most severe downturn in post-war history, the global economy picked up during 2010, growing
at a faster and stronger pace than previously expected. Dynamic growth in the emerging economies of Asia,
especially in China, provided much of the impetus for this upswing. The more mature markets in Europe and
the United States also benefited from the momentum.

Boosted by the economic recovery, we achieved double-digit growth in both Group sales and Group operat-
ing profit. We managed to surpass our previous best figures, posted in the 2008 financial year. Group sales
rose 14.8 percent to EUR 12.868bn (2009: EUR 11.211bn). By way of comparison, Group sales in 2008 were
EUR 12.663bn. We continued to increase profitability, with Group operating profit growing at a faster rate than
sales, up 22.6 percent to EUR 2.925bn (2009: EUR 2.385bn). Group operating profit in 2008 was EUR 2.555bn.

The fact that we have achieved these record figures only a year after the toughest financial crisis for more than
six decades is remarkable. Clearly, the economic recovery played its part. However, our performance is also
testament to the strength of our business model. Our gases and engineering businesses are well positioned
on the global stage, enjoying a particularly strong foothold in fast-growing economies. What is more, we have
been systematically improving efficiency throughout our entire organisation.

We invite you, our shareholders, to participate in the success of our Group and we will therefore continue to
base our dividend payments on earnings. At the Annual General Meeting on 12 May 2011, the Executive Board
and the Supervisory Board will propose a dividend of EUR 2.20 per share. This is an increase of 22.2 percent
compared with last year’s dividend of EUR 1.80.

Economists are predicting growth for 2011, both in global gross domestic product and worldwide industrial
production. However, uncertainty remains as to the sustainability and extent of the present recovery. Factors
which could dampen wider global growth prospects include high public debt levels across the world, monetary
instability and the relatively high unemployment figures in the US and in some European countries.

Irrespective of future macroeconomic trends, we would be well advised to continue to do everything in our
power to drive further process enhancements and systematically roll out our holistic concept for lasting effi-
ciency and productivity gains.

We will remain on our current path, looking to the future with complete confidence. In the 2011 financial year,
we expect to achieve growth in Group sales and an improvement in Group operating profit relative to 2010.
We have also set ourselves new medium-term targets. In the 2014 financial year, we will be aiming to achieve
Group operating profit of at least EUR 4bn. For that same year, we have defined a 14 percent minimum target
for return on capital employed - our key performance indicator.
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These targets are ambitious but realistic. We will continue to improve over the next few years, creating a
stable foundation which will enable us to capitalise even more effectively on long-term global megatrends such
as energy, the environment and healthcare, and on dynamic growth in emerging economies.

GROUP MANAGEMENT
REPORT

{1-

GROUP FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle
Chief Executive Officer of Linde AG

NOTES TO THE GROUP
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FURTHER INFORMATION
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Supervisory Board

Members of the Supervisory Board

Dr Manfred Schneider

Chairman

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Bayer AG

Hans-Dieter Katte?
Deputy Chairman
Chairman of the Pullach
Works Council,
Engineering Division,
Linde AG

Michael Diekmann

Second Deputy Chairman

Chairman of the Board of Management
of Allianz SE

Dr Gerhard Beiten
Lawyer

Supervisory Board committees

Mediation Committee in accor-
dance with Section 27 (3) of the
German Codetermination Law
(Mitbest@)

Dr Manfred Schneider
(Chairman)

Hans-Dieter Katte1

Michael Diekmann
Gernot Hahl1

T Employee representative.

Dr Clemens Borsig
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Deutsche Bank AG

Gernot Hahl1
Chairman of the Worms Works Council,
Gases Division, Linde AG

Thilo Kdmmerer?
Trade Union Secretary of 1G Metall

Matthew F.C. Miau
Chairman of the MiTAC-SYNNEX-Group,
Taiwan

Standing Committee

Dr Manfred Schneider
(Chairman)

Hans-Dieter Katte
Michael Diekmann
Gernot Hahl1

Klaus-Peter Miiller

Klaus-Peter Muller
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
of Commerzbank AG

Jens Riedel?
Chairman of the Leuna Works Council,
Gases Division, Linde AG

Xaver Schmidt1
Secretary to the Executive Board
of 1G Bergbau, Chemie, Energie, Hanover

Josef Schregle?

Manager responsible for finance and
financial control, Engineering Division,
Linde AG

Audit Committee

Dr Clemens Borsig
(Chairman)

Dr Gerhard Beiten
Gernot Hahl1
Hans-Dieter Katte

Dr Manfred Schneider

Nomination Committee

Dr Manfred Schneider
(Chairman)

Michael Diekmann
Klaus-Peter Maller

Memberships of other German supervisory boards and comparable German and foreign boards are shown in Note [37] of the Notes to the Group

financial statements.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

! At a)«mwf

During the 2010 financial year, the Supervisory Board conducted detailed reviews of the Group’s situation,
its prospects and its strategic development, as well as the future long-term positioning of The Linde Group. It
also focused on individual initiatives of key importance to the company. We monitored and advised the Exec-
utive Board in the running of its business operations in accordance with the duties assigned to us by law, the
articles of association and the procedural rules of the Supervisory Board. Through verbal updates at our meet-
ings and written reports, the Executive Board reqularly provided us with timely and comprehensive reviews of
company performance, the economic situation, profitability and plans for the company and its subsidiaries. We
assessed the plausibility of all documents presented to us and regularly discussed significant matters with the
Executive Board. The Supervisory Board was involved in all major decisions made by the company including
Executive Board transactions and measures requiring the approval of the Supervisory Board - in particular the
annual capital expenditure programme, major acquisitions, divestments, and capital and financial measures.
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board also ensured he remained up-to-date on the current business situation,
significant business transactions and decisions taken by the Executive Board through various channels includ-
ing the minutes of Executive Board meetings. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board maintained close contact
with the Chairman of the Executive Board throughout the year to keep abreast of the latest developments and
events and held regular consultations with him on the Group’s strategy, risk situation and risk management.
On the basis of the auditors’ report and reports submitted by the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board was
able to satisfy itself as to the effectiveness of the risk monitoring system set up in accordance with Section
91 (2) of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG). At no time did the Supervisory Board raise any objections
in relation to the sound, efficient management of the Group.

Meetings and resolutions of the Supervisory Board

Four reqular Supervisory Board meetings were held in the 2010 financial year. One member of the Supervisory
Board excused himself from the meeting on 16 March for health reasons. All Supervisory Board members were
present for the remaining meetings. There were no conflicts of interest involving Supervisory Board members
during the period under review.

In 2010, the Supervisory Board’s advisory and monitoring activities focused mainly on the growth pros-
pects of the Group, its individual lines of business and operating segments. In-depth discussions with the
Executive Board examined in particular the Group’s corporate and strategic goals, their feasibility, eco-
nomic implications and expected impact on the Group's financial situation. The Executive Board provided
us with extensive information on the competitive landscape. Based on verbal reports from the Executive
Board, the Supervisory Board is satisfied that the Group’s structures and processes are being continually
assessed and streamlined in order to increase and consolidate long-term competitiveness across all lines
of business.

In addition to reviewing current business developments, our meetings also addressed the Group’s financial and
risk situation, compliance with legal regulations and internal guidelines and key individual business transac-
tions requiring Supervisory Board approval. After a thorough review of the documents submitted and detailed
discussions on the proposals by the Executive Board, the Supervisory Board granted all the necessary approv-
als. Due to time pressure, three proposals that had already been discussed in part in a plenary meeting were
approved outside Supervisory Board meetings in written form and on the basis of extensive documentation.
One of these proposals related to a new EUR 2.5bn five-year revolving credit line, which took advantage of
more favourable market conditions, to replace the syndicated credit financing the 2006 acquisition of BOC and
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the forward start facility concluded in 2009. The other proposals concerned internal legal restructuring and
modifications to the procedural rules of the Supervisory Board to reflect amendments to the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code dated May 2010.

At the Supervisory Board meeting to approve the financial statements on 16 March 2010, we discussed in detail
and approved the annual financial statements of Linde AG and the Group financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2009 and agreed the proposed appropriation of earnings. We also received a report from an
independent external expert in executive pay detailing the key results of a review of the existing system of
remuneration for the Executive Board and the appropriateness of Executive Board remuneration. On the basis
of this report and the recommendation from the Standing Committee, we approved the remuneration system
for the Executive Board for the duration of existing contractual obligations as well as the overall remuneration
for individual Executive Board members for 2009. In light of this, we have also decided to submit the remu-
neration system for members of the Executive Board to the Annual General Meeting for approval. Moreover,
the Supervisory Board issued a declaration of compliance with the German Corporate Governance Code and
approved the agenda for the Annual General Meeting, including the proposed resolutions. In addition to its
regular reports on business performance and the general position of The Linde Group, the Executive Board also
presented us with a competitive analysis and peer review to give added insights into prospective changes on
the global market for industrial gases.

Just before the Annual General Meeting on 4 May 2010, the Executive Board presented the Group financial
results for the quarter ending 31 March 2010. On the basis of these quarterly results, we then discussed the
forecast for 2010 with the Executive Board. The Executive Board provided detailed information on selected
indicators and informed us of their impact on the Group’s finances and operations. During this meeting, the
Executive Board also outlined plans to conclude a EUR 2.5bn syndicated credit facility. These plans were then
discussed in detail. The meeting also served to prepare for the ensuing Annual General Meeting.

At our meeting on 1 October 2010, the Executive Board outlined in detail the economic situation of The Linde
Group and its divisions. It also presented the outlook for 2010 as a whole. The meeting focused on the Group’s
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strategic roadmap, outlining progress thus far and future strategic steps. In particular we discussed the strate-
gic positioning and direction of the Group and its divisions along with current and prospective initiatives in this
area. The Executive Board explained in detail the opportunities and risks on the international market in light
of the current general economic climate. In conjunction with this, the Executive Board explained the impor-
tance of its process optimisation and efficiency gains programme and outlined measures in the pipeline. We
also received in-depth information on the clean energy strategy during the course of the meeting. Two items
requiring Supervisory Board approval were also tabled, namely: the proposed increase to The Linde Group’s
2010 capital expenditure programme and amendments to the existing Euro Commercial Paper Programme
(see glossary). Both items were approved. The Supervisory Board addressed new provisions in the German
Corporate Governance Code and prepared the resulting amendments to its procedural rules. We also received
a report on compliance.

0n 3 December 2010, the Executive Board presented us with a report on current business developments and
the performance of the Group in comparison with its competitors. It also presented us with a preview of the
2010 financial statements as well as the budget for the 2011 financial year and the mid-term business plan,
including financial, capital expenditure and human resources plans. The Executive Board explained any vari-
ances between the plans and targets and actual results. We questioned the Executive Board in depth about
the assumptions they had made, focusing in particular on issues relating to investment policy, investment and
financing planning, liquidity and debt repayment. We were satisfied that the Executive Board continues to
assess thoroughly any risks to the Group given the overall economic climate and is taking appropriate action.
We approved the 2011 capital expenditure programme for The Linde Group. We also approved an internal legal
restructuring proposal presented by the Executive Board. In addition, we discussed the results of a review exam-
ining the efficiency of the Supervisory Board’s work. The review was based on a detailed survey conducted in
autumn 2010. We debated possible actions here and defined measures aimed at further optimising our activ-
ities. This meeting also focused on corporate governance at Linde and the new recommendations under the
German Corporate Governance Code in particular.

Corporate governance and declaration of compliance

We continually verify that the provisions of the German Corporate Governance Code are being correctly imple-
mented. Linde AG complies with all the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code as amended
on 26 May 2010. In March 2011, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board issued an updated declara-
tion of compliance in accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG) and made it
permanently available to shareholders on the company’s website (www.linde.com). In light of amendments
to the German Corporate Governance Code in May 2010, the Supervisory Board arranged dedicated training
for Supervisory Board members and defined goals for the future composition of the Supervisory Board. These
targets and further information about corporate governance at Linde are given in the corporate governance
section on pages 016 to 022.

Committees and committee meetings

The Supervisory Board continues to have four committees: the Mediation Committee, formed under Section
27 (3) of the German Codetermination Law (MitbestG), the Standing Committee, the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is Chairman of all the committees except the
Audit Committee. The current members of the committees are listed on page 008. Information about the respon-
sibilities of the committees is given in the corporate governance report on pages 016 to 022.
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The Standing Committee of the Supervisory Board held two meetings in 2010. A resolution was also passed in
writing. The Standing Committee dealt mainly with matters relating to the Executive Board, in particular the
specifics of the German Law on the Appropriateness of Executive Board Remuneration (VorstAG) and the prep-
aration of decisions by the full Board related to the emoluments payable to Executive Board members. It exam-
ined in detail the findings of an independent external expert in executive pay retained to review the existing
remuneration system for the Executive Board and its appropriateness. This expert attended one of the Stand-
ing Committee meetings, reported on the findings of the review and answered questions from the committee.
The Standing Committee prepared the resolutions regarding the remuneration system for the Executive Board
and the total remuneration payable to individual Board members for the March Supervisory Board meeting. Fur-
thermore, the Standing Committee approved amendments to the articles of association rendered necessary as
a result of the issue of shares to service the share options. In addition, it prepared the efficiency review of the
Supervisory Board.

The Audit Committee held four meetings in 2010. In the presence of the auditors, the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer, it discussed and reviewed in detail the annual financial statements of Linde AG
and the Group financial statements, the management reports, the proposed appropriation of profits and the
audit reports, including the report on the audit focus and the presentation by the auditors of the main results
of the audit. The Audit Committee raised no objections on the basis of its reviews. The auditors did not report
any significant weaknesses in the internal control and risk management systems relating to the accounting
process. The Audit Committee also discussed the interim and half-year financial reports prior to their publica-
tion based on reports presented by the Executive Board and the auditors. In addition, this committee prepared
the proposal from the Supervisory Board on the appointment of the auditors at the Annual General Meeting,
issued the audit mandate to the auditors, determined the audit focus and agreed the audit fees. Moreover, the
Audit Committee monitored the independence, qualifications, rotation and efficiency of the auditors and the
services provided by the auditors in addition to the audit. The Audit Committee also entered into an agreement
with the auditors in accordance with the Group’s internal rules about the provision of services not related to the
audit, and the auditors informed the committee at each of its meetings about the fees it had charged in rela-
tion to such services. Furthermore, it remained up to date on evolutions in the risk management system and
compliance structures, compliance issues, any legal or requlatory risks, the risk position and the identification
and monitoring of risk within the Group. The Audit Committee also reviewed the evolution of internal control
systems within the Group based on a presentation by the Executive Board. It received a report on the struc-
ture, roles and responsibilities within the Internal Audit department, on their audit work and the audit plan
for 2010. The Audit Committee was briefed on the efficiency of the internal control system, risk management
system and internal audit system; it discussed the findings in detail and was duly satisfied as to the efficacy of
the systems in question. Detailed discussions were held on a regular basis with the auditors and the Executive
Board to address fundamental issues regarding the preparation and audit of the annual financial statements of
Linde AG and the Group financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2010. The Executive Board also
reqularly provided the committee with information about the status of various activities relating to the external
and internal financing of the Group and the safequarding of its liquidity. Topics of discussion included projects
of relevance to the accounting process. The committee was joined by department/unit heads for key items on
the agenda. They submitted reports and answered questions from the committee. In addition, the Chairman of
the Audit Committee discussed topics of significance with the auditors and the Chief Financial Officer in par-
ticular between committee meetings. The Audit Committee and - if necessary - the Supervisory Board - were
regularly appraised of the outcome of these discussions.
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The Nomination and Mediation Committees had no cause to meet during the year.

A committee member excused himself from the Audit and Standing Committee meetings in March 2010 for
health reasons. All committee members were otherwise present at all other meetings.

The committee chairmen reported in detail about the work of their committees at the plenary Supervisory Board
meeting following their own meetings.

Annual financial statements and Group financial statements

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft, Berlin, (KPMG) audited the annual financial statements of Linde AG
for the year ended 31 December 2010 prepared in accordance with the principles set out in the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB) together with the management report, as well as the consolidated financial statements
of The Linde Group for the year ended 31 December 2010 prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the
European Union including the management report in accordance with German generally accepted standards
for the audit of financial statements and in supplementary compliance with International Standards on Audit-
ing (ISA). The auditors have confirmed that the Group financial statements and the Group management report
meet the requirements set out in Section 315a (1) HGB and have issued unqualified opinions on both the Group
financial statements and annual financial statements. In accordance with the terms of its engagement, KPMG
performed audit reviews of the interim and half-year financial reports in the 2010 financial year. At no time did
these reviews give rise to any objections. KPMG also confirmed that the system for the early identification of
risks complies with legal requirements. No risks that might affect the viability of the company as a going con-
cern were identified. The auditors did not report any significant weaknesses in the internal control system. In
the 2010 financial year, the audit focus was on the Internal Audit function within The Linde Group.

The documents relating to the financial statements and the audit reports were issued to all members of the
Supervisory Board in good time. They were the subject of extensive deliberations at the Audit Committee
meeting on 8 March 2011 and the meeting of the Supervisory Board to approve the financial statements on
9 March 2011. The auditors took part in the discussions both at the Audit Committee meeting and at the meet-
ing of the full Supervisory Board. The auditors presented the main results of their audit and were able to pro-
vide supplementary information and to answer questions. The Audit Committee also presented the results of
its review to the Supervisory Board. We conducted our own examination of all the documents submitted and
the audit reports and discussed them in detail. After considering the results of the preliminary review by the
Audit Committee and the final results of our own review of the documents submitted to us by the Executive
Board and by the auditors, we find no grounds for objection and concur with the results of KPMG's audit. We
hereby approve and adopt the financial statements of Linde AG and the Group financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2010 as drawn up by the Executive Board; the annual financial statements of Linde AG are
hereby final. We also approve the Executive Board’s proposal for the appropriation of profits.
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Composition of the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board

There were no changes to the composition of the Supervisory Board or Executive Board in the 2010 financial
year.

EXECUTIVE BOARD

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Executive Board and all Linde employees for their exceptional
personal dedication in mastering what again proved to be quite a challenging financial year.

Munich, 9 March 2011

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

M.

Dr Manfred Schneider
Chairman
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance

Sound corporate governance is fundamental to a company’s long-term success.
The Supervisory and Executive Boards of Linde AG are firmly committed to upholding
the principles of sound corporate governance. Their management and supervision
actions are always guided by a strong sense of responsibility. Both bodies will
continue to follow developments in this area closely and adapt existing corporate
governance structures wherever necessary or beneficial to the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

017 Corporate governance declaration
and corporate governance report
023 Remuneration report
(Part of the Group Management Report)
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Corporate governance declaration and

corporate governance report

Compliance with the German Corporate Governance
Code and declarations of compliance

Linde AG follows the German Corporate Governance Code
released by the Government Commission as amended from time
to time. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board of Linde AG
issued a declaration of compliance with the recommendations of
the German Corporate Governance Code in March 2010 in line
with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG)
and made this permanently available to the public on the Linde
website. In March 2011, the Executive Board and Supervisory
Board submitted the following declaration:

“The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Linde AG
declare in accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Law:

Linde AG has complied and will in future comply with all the
recommendations of the Government Commission on the German
Corporate Governance Code as amended on 26 May 2010.

Since it made its last declaration of compliance in March 2010,
Linde AG has complied with all the recommendations of the Code
as amended on 18 June 2009.”

The current declaration of compliance and all past
declarations of compliance with the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code are available on the company’s website at
www.linde.com/declarationofcompliance.

Linde AG also complies to the greatest possible extent with
the suggestions made in the Code, with the following two excep-
tions:

- The Code suggests transmitting the Annual General Meet-
ing over the Internet. We transmit the opening remarks from
the Chairman of the Supervisory Board and the speech from
the Chief Executive Officer, but not the general discussion.
In principle, the articles of association allow for transmission
of the Annual General Meeting in full via electronic media.
However, out of respect for the privacy of shareholders, we
do not transmit motions or views expressed by individual
speakers. Nevertheless, we will continue to follow develop-
ments closely.

- In addition, there is a suggestion in the Code that variable
emoluments paid to members of the Supervisory Board
should also be linked to the long-term performance of the
company. When the Supervisory Board remuneration scheme
was revised at the Annual General Meeting in June 2007, it
was decided not to introduce a long-term component.

Corporate governance practices

Linde AG has traditionally attached great importance to sound,
responsible management and supervision geared towards the
creation of lasting value for stakeholders. Our success has always
been built on close and effective cooperation between the Exec-
utive and Supervisory Boards, the ability to serve shareholder
interests, open communication within the company, proper
accounting and auditing, as well as a responsible approach to
risks, legal regulations and internal Group rules.

Linde upholds high ethical standards. In 2007, the Execu-
tive Board developed a corporate philosophy entitled the Linde
Spirit, devised a new code of conduct known as the Code of
Ethics and launched both throughout the Group. The Linde Spirit
describes the corporate culture captured in the Linde vision plus
the values and principles that underpin day-to-day activities. The
Code of Ethics sets out the commitment made by all employ-
ees of The Linde Group to comply with legal requlations and to
preserve and protect the ethical and moral values of the Group.
It is based on our corporate culture and aligns with our global
values and fundamental principles. The Integrity Line reporting
system is an important element of the compliance framework at
The Linde Group. It enables both internal and external stakehold-
ers to raise issues or report any suspicions they may have. The
Executive Board has also issued its own guidelines for occupa-
tional safety, environmental and health protection, quality and
purchasing. Like the Code of Ethics, these apply to all employees
in The Linde Group.

To reinforce compliance with both legal requlations and vol-
untarily adopted principles, the company has set up a global
compliance organisation. The Executive Board has established a
compliance office within Group Legal. Compliance officers have
been appointed in the divisions, lines of business and operat-
ing segments to support Group-wide observance of the com-
pliance programme. The global compliance officer coordinates
and oversees execution of the various compliance measures.
The Executive Board and the Audit Committee of the Supervi-
sory Board are reqularly informed about current developments
and progress within the compliance organisation, including
measures aimed at communicating existing rules of conduct
to employees, training employees in those rules and updat-
ing them as necessary. Training is provided for our employ-
ees worldwide. Classroom-based courses are supplemented by
a Group-wide e-learning programme. In 2010, the Executive
Board published a uniform, Group-wide code of conduct to pre-
vent breaches of antitrust law. It also launched dedicated train-
ing courses that focus on antitrust law and ways of combating
corruption. Information on our core values and compliance pol-
icy is available at www.linde.com/quidelinescorevalues and
www.linde.com/corporategovernance.

017

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

w
o
=
<
=
[
e}
>
o
(]
w
=
<<
=
o
-9
=
o
o

NOTES TO THE GROUP GROUP FINANCIAL GROUP MANAGEMENT LINDE SHARES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STATEMENTS REPORT

FURTHER INFORMATION



018

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

[
o
=z
<
=
[
e}
>
o
(C]
w
=
<
=
(=]
-9
(==
o
o

NOTES TO THE GROUP GROUP FINANCIAL GROUP MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STATEMENTS REPORT LINDE SHARES

FURTHER INFORMATION

Linde Financial Report 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Corporate governance declaration and corporate governance report

Executive Board and Supervisory Board procedures

Linde AG, which has its registered office in Munich, is governed
by the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Law (AktG),
the German Codetermination Law (MitbestG), capital market reg-
ulations and the rules set out in its articles of association. The
Executive Board and Supervisory Board are responsible for the
management and supervision functions assigned to them. They
cooperate closely in the interests of the Group to ensure the con-
tinued existence of the Group as a going concern and to cre-
ate lasting value for stakeholders. They are obliged to act in the
interests of the shareholders and for the benefit of the Group.

Executive Board

The Executive Board of Linde AG is responsible for managing
the company and overseeing its general business activities. Its
actions and decisions are made in the best interests of the com-
pany, which includes the interests of shareholders, employees,
customers and other stakeholder groups. Its overarching aim is to
create lasting value for stakeholders. The Executive Board devel-
ops the strategic direction of the Group, discusses it with the
Supervisory Board and ensures that it is properly executed. It
is also responsible for Group financing, developing annual and
multi-year business plans for the company as well as preparing
interim and half-year financial reports, plus annual and Group
financial statements. In addition, the Executive Board ensures
that appropriate risk management and risk control systems are
in place and provides reqular, timely and detailed reports to the
Supervisory Board on all relevant Group issues including strategy,
medium-term business plans, business trends, the risk situation,
risk management and compliance with legal regulations and
internal Group guidelines. The Executive Board takes the nec-
essary measures to facilitate compliance throughout the Group.
Given the Group's extensive reach - across both international
markets and industry sectors - the Executive Board is responsible
for ensuring that this diversity is reflected at management level.
In particular, it is committed to ensuring that women are appro-
priately represented in management positions. The Group’s HR
strategy includes the definition, delivery and continuous evolu-
tion of Group-wide talent development programmes. Key Execu-
tive Board activities and transactions require the approval of the
Supervisory Board. This applies in particular to the annual capital
expenditure programme, major acquisitions, divestments, capi-
tal measures and financial measures. While in office, members of
the Executive Board are bound by a detailed restraint clause. Any
conflicts of interest must be disclosed immediately to the Super-
visory Board, as well as to fellow Board members.

The procedural rules of the Executive Board govern the work
it performs, the allocation of duties/areas of responsibility to
individual members, the issues which must be dealt with by the
full Executive Board and the majority required for resolutions
to be passed by the Executive Board. In general, the Executive

Board passes resolutions at meetings held on a regular basis. A
simple majority of the votes cast is sufficient for a resolution to
be passed, unless a greater majority is prescribed by law. If the
vote is tied, the Chairman has the casting vote. Without preju-
dice to the collective responsibility of all members of the Execu-
tive Board, each member of the Executive Board carries individ-
val responsibility for the functions assigned in connection with
Board resolutions. It is incumbent upon the Chairman of the Exec-
utive Board to assume responsibility not only for the functions
allocated to him, but also to coordinate all areas of responsibility
entrusted to the Executive Board in a due and proper manner. He
is the main contact between the Executive Board and the Super-
visory Board and represents the company in public.

No conflicts of interest arose for any member of the Executive
Board during the reporting period. Where such conflicts of inter-
est do occur, they must be disclosed immediately to the Supervi-
sory Board. No member of the Executive Board holds more than
three supervisory board positions in other listed companies or on
comparable supervisory bodies of other business entities. Infor-
mation about memberships held by members of the Executive
Board on other German supervisory boards or comparable Ger-
man/foreign boards of business entities is provided in Note [37]
of the Notes to the Group financial statements.

The Executive Board has no committees.

The international composition of the Executive Board reflects
The Linde Group’s global footprint. Information on the Executive
Board as a whole and on individual Board members, including
their responsibilities and duties, can be found in the overview on
page 004 or on the company website. The CVs of Executive Board
members are also available on the company website.

Supervisory Board

Equal numbers of shareholder representatives and employee
representatives sit on the Supervisory Board of Linde AG, which
comprises, in accordance with the company’s articles of associ-
ation, the number of members specified as the minimum num-
ber in the relevant requlations. Currently, the minimum number
of Supervisory Board members required is twelve. The appoint-
ment of the members to the Supervisory Board is also governed
by the relevant legal regulations. In accordance with the rec-
ommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code, the
shareholder representatives were elected individually at the last
election to the Supervisory Board at the Annual General Meet-
ing on 3 June 2008. The current term of office for the members
of the Supervisory Board ends with the completion of the Annual
General Meeting in 2013. The Supervisory Board composition is
balanced to ensure that the members collectively possess the
knowledge, skills and professional experience necessary to dis-
charge the duties entrusted to the Board in a due and proper
manner. All Supervisory Board members must ensure that they
have sufficient time to perform their mandates. Supervisory
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Board members who also sit on the executive board of a listed
company must not hold more than three supervisory board man-
dates in listed companies or in comparable supervisory bodies of
other business entities which do not belong to the same group as
the company in which they perform their executive board duties.
Linde AG undertakes to support Supervisory Board members as
appropriate in the pursuit of training or further education mea-
sures deemed necessary for the performance of their duties.

In accordance with Section 5.4.1 of the German Corporate
Governance Code, the Supervisory Board has defined the con-
crete targets below for its future composition. Taking the compa-
ny’s specific situation into account, these factor in the company’s
international reach, potential conflicts of interest, age limits for
Supervisory Board members and the need for diversity.

- International expertise
With operations in more than 100 countries, The Linde Group
has an international footprint. To reflect this, at least five of
the Supervisory Board members should have extensive inter-
national expertise.

- Potential conflicts of interest
At least 75 percent of the Supervisory Board members should
have no business or personal ties with the company or its
Executive Board which could constitute or give rise to a con-
flict of interests. The mere existence of an employment rela-
tionship between employee representatives and the com-
pany or associated companies does not exclude impartiality
as described above. Supervisory Board members should not
have management or advisory roles on the executive bodies
of companies that classify as main competitors of The Linde
Group. In addition, no more than two former Executive Board
members may belong to the Supervisory Board.

- Age limit for Supervisory Board members
Supervisory Board members should not be older than 72.

- Diversity
The Supervisory Board is committed to diversity in its compo-
sition. In particular, it attaches importance to the fair repre-
sentation of women. The next elections for both shareholder
and employee representatives to the Supervisory Board are
scheduled for 2013. The Supervisory Board should include at
least two women after these elections at the very latest.

More than five members of the current Supervisory Board have
gained extensive international expertise in a professional capac-
ity. No conflicts of interest arose for the members of the Super-
visory Board in the 2010 financial year. Where such conflicts of
interest do occur, they must be disclosed immediately to the
Supervisory Board. No Supervisory Board members currently have
management or advisory roles on the executive bodies of com-
panies that classify as main competitors of The Linde Group. Four
Supervisory Board members are company employees; no other

consulting, service or work agreements have been concluded
between Supervisory Board members and the company. No for-
mer members of the Executive Board are currently members of
the Supervisory Board. One Supervisory Board member reached
the age limit in the 2010 financial year. At the Annual General
Meeting in 2008, the member in question was also elected for a
term of five years. When proposing candidates for the 2008 elec-
tions, the Supervisory Board was aware of the age limit defined
in the procedural rules. However, it had good reason for propos-
ing candidates that would reach the age limit during their term
of office. The candidates in question were approved at the meet-
ing. At present, there are no women on the Supervisory Board.
The Board is aiming to appoint a reasonable proportion of women
at the next elections. The intention is that at the 2011 Annual
General Meeting, when one member of the Supervisory Board
will be standing down, a female candidate will be proposed for
election. The Supervisory Board currently feels that two female
Board members would be appropriate. This level of representa-
tion aligns with the number of female employees at management
level with experience in the management of industrial compa-
nies, the proportion of women in The Linde Group workforce, cur-
rently around 19 percent, and the proportion of women in senior
management positions, currently around 10 percent.

The procedural rules of the Supervisory Board include criteria
determining the impartiality of its members. In the past financial
year, some of the members of the Supervisory Board were on the
executive boards of companies with which Linde has business
relationships and they continue to hold seats on those boards.
Transactions with these companies take place under the same
conditions as for non-related third parties. These transactions
do not affect the impartiality of the Supervisory Board members
concerned. All Supervisory Board members thus demonstrate an
adequate degree of impartiality.

Information about the members of the Supervisory Board and
their memberships of other German supervisory boards or com-
parable German/foreign boards of business entities is given in
Note [37] of the Notes to the Group financial statements. CVs of
Supervisory Board members are also available on the company
website.

The Supervisory Board convenes four times a year for regular,
scheduled meetings. Should the need arise, it can also sched-
ule extra meetings. The Supervisory Board appoints the Execu-
tive Board and monitors and advises the Executive Board in the
running of its business operations. Executive Board decisions
which are of fundamental importance require the approval of
the Supervisory Board. In appointing the Executive Board, the
Supervisory Board aims for diversity and the appropriate repre-
sentation of women in particular. The Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board coordinates the work of the entire Supervisory Board
and chairs the meetings. He is responsible for ensuring that res-
olutions passed by the Supervisory Board and its committees are
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duly executed. In addition, on behalf of the Supervisory Board,
he is authorised to issue statements expedient to the execution
of the resolutions passed by the Supervisory Board and its com-
mittees. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board maintains close
contact with the Chairman of the Executive Board throughout the
year to keep abreast of the latest developments and events.

Supervisory Board committees

The Supervisory Board has four committees. Various Board mem-
bers sit on these committees. The committees do the ground-
work for the full Supervisory Board. If it is permitted by law and
laid down in the procedural rules of the Supervisory Board, deci-
sion-making powers may in individual cases be delegated by
the Supervisory Board to these committees. The Chairman of the
Supervisory Board is the Chairman of all the committees except
the Audit Committee.

The Standing Committee, which comprises three shareholder
representatives and two employee representatives, advises the
Supervisory Board in particular on the appointment and removal
of members of the Executive Board and on decisions regard-
ing the remuneration system for the Executive Board, includ-
ing the terms and conditions of employment contracts, pension
contracts, any other contracts pertinent to the remuneration of
Executive Board members and the total remuneration package
payable to each individual Executive Board member. In particular,
the Standing Committee is also responsible for approving busi-
ness transactions with Executive Board members and individu-
als or companies with whom or which they have close ties and
approving other mandates taken up by Executive Board mem-
bers, especially positions on supervisory boards or comparable
boards of business entities that are not members of The Linde
Group. It also provides advice about long-term succession plan-
ning for the Executive Board and reviews the effectiveness of the
work of the Supervisory Board on a regular basis.

The Audit Committee similarly comprises three shareholder
representatives and two employee representatives. It does the
groundwork for the decisions of the Supervisory Board regarding
the adoption of the annual financial statements and the approval
of the Group financial statements and makes arrangements with
the auditors. It supports the Supervisory Board in the execution
of its supervisory duties and monitors, in particular, the account-
ing process as well as the effectiveness of the internal control
system, the risk management system, the internal audit system
and the audit process for the financial statements. It also han-
dles compliance issues. Moreover, it discusses interim and half-
year financial reports with the Executive Board prior to their pub-
lication. The Audit Committee also makes a recommendation to
the full Supervisory Board regarding the proposal for the elec-
tion of the company’s auditors. The Chairman of the Audit Com-
mittee, Dr Clemens Borsig, is an independent financial expert

and has years of expertise in accounting principles and internal
control systems.

The Nomination Committee comprises the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, the Second Deputy Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board and one other shareholder representative. It makes
recommendations to the Supervisory Board on proposed can-
didates for the election of shareholder representatives at the
Annual General Meeting.

The Mediation Committee, formed under the provisions of the
German Codetermination Law (MitbestG), comprises the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board, the Deputy Chairman of the Super-
visory Board, one shareholder representative and one employee
representative. It makes suggestions to the Supervisory Board
regarding the appointment of members to the Executive Board if
the required two-thirds majority of votes cast by the Supervisory
Board is not obtained in the first ballot.

The Standing Committee generally meets once a year; the
Audit Committee four times. The Nomination and Mediation Com-
mittees convene meetings as required.

The names of those sitting on the Supervisory Board and on
the Supervisory Board committees when the financial statements
were being prepared are given on page 008 or can be viewed
at any time at www.linde.com/supervisoryboard. Please refer
to pages 010 to 015 in the Report of the Supervisory Board for
information about the activities of the Supervisory Board and its
committees and about the work it has done with the Executive
Board in the 2010 financial year.

Additional corporate governance information

Annual General Meeting
The shareholders assert their rights as conferred under the arti-
cles of association either before or during the Annual General
Meeting by exercising their right to vote. Each share entitles the
shareholder to one vote.

The Annual General Meeting takes place within the first six
months of each financial year. Notice of the Annual General Meet-
ing, together with the reports and documents required by law for
the meeting, including the annual report, is published, along with
the agenda for the meeting, the conditions governing participation,
an overview of shareholder rights plus shareholder proposals and
counter-motions, on the company’s website in German and English.
Notice of the Annual General Meeting and the associated documents
can be transmitted electronically to shareholders if they so wish.

Shareholders who cannot attend the Annual General Meeting or
who leave the meeting before voting has commenced have the
option of exercising their vote through a proxy of their choice or
a proxy appointed by the company who then votes in accordance
with their instructions. The proxy forms may be handed in at any
time until the evening before the Annual General Meeting, and



Linde Financial Report 2010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Corporate governance declaration and corporate governance report

may also be in electronic form if so desired. For the first time,
shareholders at the 2011 Annual General Meeting will have the
option of casting their vote(s) - without appointing a proxy - in
writing or using electronic media (ballot by mail).

The Executive Board of Linde AG presents the annual finan-
cial statements and Group financial statements for approval
at the Annual General Meeting. The Annual General Meeting
passes resolutions regarding the appropriation of profits, official
approval of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board actions,
the appointment of the auditors and generally also the elec-
tion of shareholder representatives to the Supervisory Board
and the appointment of the auditors. Decisions are also made
at the Annual General Meeting regarding changes to the articles
of association, capital measures and the authorisation to repur-
chase shares. In addition, the meeting can pass a resolution to
approve the remuneration system for Executive Board members.
The remarks of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board at the
beginning of the Annual General Meeting and the speech of the
Chief Executive Officer are transmitted live on the Internet. Once
the Annual General Meeting has closed, the results of the votes
on each agenda item are published on the company’s website
without delay.

Consequential loss and liability insurance

The company has taken out consequential loss and directors and
officers liability insurance (D & O) for the members of the Execu-
tive Board and Supervisory Board. For the Executive Board, the
retention in accordance with the applicable statutory provisions
amounts to 10 percent of the claim, up to a total corresponding to
one and a half times the fixed annual emoluments of the Board
member in question. An appropriate retention has been agreed
for members of the Supervisory Board in accordance with the
recommendation of the German Corporate Governance Code.

Directors’ dealings

Linde AG publishes without delay as stipulated by law those
transactions subject to notification under Section 15a of the
German Securities Trading Law (WpHG) which have been exe-
cuted by the persons named therein, in particular transactions
executed by members of executive bodies of the company and
related parties that involve shares in the company or related
financial instruments. The transactions disclosed by Linde AG
during the year under review can be accessed in the annual doc-
ument on the company’s website.

Interests in share capital

The total holdings of all the members of the Executive and Super-
visory Boards in Linde AG shares or related financial instruments
during the financial year did not exceed 1 percent of the shares
issued by the company. On 31 December 2010, Executive Board
members held a total of 490,000 shares and share options in

Linde AG (0.3 percent of shares issued); Supervisory Board mem-
bers held a total of 4,500 shares and share options in Linde AG
(0.003 percent of shares issued).

Remuneration of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board

The remuneration report, which also includes information about
share option schemes, is on pages 023 to 031 of this financial
report.

Communications and stakeholder relations

Linde AG complies with the legal requirement to treat all its
shareholders equally. Transparency plays an important role in
the company and it always aims to provide shareholders and
the public with comprehensive, consistent and up-to-date infor-
mation. The company makes extensive use of the Internet as a
reporting communication platform.

To keep shareholders and the general public informed about
key dates and financial reports, the company publishes a finan-
cial calendar in its annual report, interim and half-year finan-
cial reports and on the Linde AG website. Linde AG publishes the
ad-hoc announcements, press releases and directors’ dealings in
securities that it is required by law to disclose in the media spec-
ified by law and on its website. The articles of association are
also on the website. Each quarter, Linde informs its sharehold-
ers about general business developments and gives an overview
of the Group's net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions along with the associated risks. Linde provides information
to the capital market and to the public every quarter through
analysts’” conferences and press conferences or in the form of
teleconferences. These coincide with the publication of interim
and half-year financial reports or annual results. Reqgular events
where the CEO and CFO communicate with institutional investors
and financial analysts also ensure a reqular exchange of informa-
tion with the financial markets. The dates and locations of road-
shows and investors’ conferences are published on the company
website. The presentations given at these events are also avail-
able to view on the website.

Linde’s communication policy extends beyond the interests of
its shareholders to reach its stakeholders, who are also key to the
Group’s success. As far as possible, all stakeholders are included
in corporate communications. Linde’s stakeholders include all its
employees, customers and suppliers, as well as trade associa-
tions and government bodies.

Accounting, audit and risk management

Linde AG prepares its Group financial statements and the Group
interim and half-year financial reports in accordance with Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the
European Union. The preparation of the annual financial state-
ments of Linde AG complies with German commercial law (the
German Commercial Code or HGB). The annual financial state-
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ments and the Group financial statements are prepared by the
Executive Board, reviewed by the Supervisory Board and audited
by the auditors. The audit procedures are in accordance with Ger-
man auditing requlations and German generally accepted stan-
dards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the
Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (the Institute of Public Auditors
in Germany) and, in the case of the audit of the Group finan-
cial statements, in supplementary compliance with International
Standards on Auditing. The audit procedures include a review of
the system for the early identification of risks. The Audit Commit-
tee meets the Executive Board to discuss the interim and half-
year financial reports in detail prior to publication.

In May 2010, the Supervisory Board issued a mandate for
the audit of the annual financial statements and Group financial
statements to KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft, Ber-
lin, who had been appointed at the Annual General Meeting as
auditors of the financial statements and Group financial state-
ments for the year ended 31 December 2010 and had also been
appointed to conduct audit reviews of the interim and half-year
financial reports for the 2010 financial year. The auditors issued a
detailed declaration confirming their independence to the Audit
Committee of the Supervisory Board. There were no conflicts
of interest. It was agreed with the auditors that the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board and of the Audit Committee would be
informed immediately during the audit of any potential reasons
for the disqualification of the auditors or for their lack of impar-
tiality, unless these could be eliminated without delay. The audi-
tors were obliged to report immediately all the significant audit
findings and events arising from the audit which have an impact
on the duties of the Supervisory Board. The auditors have also
undertaken to inform the Supervisory Board if they discover facts
in the course of their audit which reveal any inaccuracies in the
company’s declaration of compliance with the Code.

Linde has reporting, monitoring and risk management sys-
tems in place. These are continually being updated and adapted
by the Executive Board to reflect changing circumstances. The
effectiveness of these systems is reviewed by the auditors both
in Germany and abroad. The Audit Committee supports the Super-
visory Board in monitoring the activities of executive manage-
ment, and deals with risk management issues. It receives reg-
ular reports from the Executive Board about risk management,
the risk position, and the identification and monitoring of risks.
In addition, it is informed on a reqular basis about existing risks
and the evolution of those risks. Moreover, the Audit Committee
has agreed with the auditors that, if necessary, they will report
to the Committee any significant weaknesses they might iden-
tify in the internal control and risk management systems relating
to the accounting process. More details about risk management
in The Linde Group are given in the Risk report on pages 078 to
087. This includes the report on the accounting-related internal
control system and the risk management system.
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Remuneration report
(Part of the Group Management Report)

The remuneration report sets out the structure, the basic fea-
tures and the amount of remuneration payable to members of
the Executive Board and Supervisory Board. It forms part of the
Group management report and takes account of the recommen-
dations of the German Corporate Governance Code. The remu-
neration report also contains the information which is legally
required under the provisions of the German Commercial Code
(HGBY). This information is therefore not repeated in the Notes to
the Group financial statements.

1. Emoluments of the Executive Board

The full Supervisory Board is responsible for defining the total
remuneration payable to each individual member of the Execu-
tive Board. In line with the procedural rules of the Supervisory
Board, it is incumbent upon the Standing Committee to do the
groundwork so that the Supervisory Board can pass resolutions
relating to remuneration. At the start of 2009, the Supervisory
Board, at the suggestion of the Standing Committee, approved
the current remuneration system for the Executive Board, which
had proved its worth over many years, including the main con-
tractual arrangements. At the beginning of 2010, against the
background of amendments to the German Stock Corporation
Law (AktG) as a result of the German Law on the Appropriate-
ness of Executive Board Remuneration, which does not require
any action in respect of existing contracts, the existing remuner-
ation system for the Executive Board was reviewed by an inde-
pendent external expert in executive pay. In the view of this
expert, the current system complies to a great extent with the
objectives of the German Law on the Appropriateness of Execu-
tive Board Remuneration. The Annual General Meeting on 4 May
2010 approved the current remuneration system for the Execu-
tive Board with a majority of 98.56 percent of the capital repre-
sented at the meeting. According to existing contractual commit-
ments, a review of the level of the remuneration, its redesign
and the renewal of performance-related components, includ-
ing the five-year performance share programme approved at
the Annual General Meeting in 2007, is not due to take place at
Linde until the 2012 financial year. Until then, it is the intention
of the Supervisory Board to examine improvements to the remu-
neration system and, once the current contractual commitments
have expired, to ensure total conformity with the new legal reg-
ulations.

The amount and structure of the remuneration payable to the
Executive Board are based not only on the size and international
reach of the company, its economic and financial situation, and
its performance and prospects, but also on customary remunera-
tion practice among peers and the remuneration structure which
applies elsewhere in the company. To gauge customary practice
among peers, Linde compares its remuneration system with that

of several other groups of companies (DAX 30 companies, simi-
lar German and international companies). The emoluments also
depend on the duties of each individual member of the Execu-
tive Board, and on his or her personal performance and the per-
formance of the Executive Board as a whole. The remuneration
is calculated so that it is competitive at international level and
gives Board members an incentive to create lasting business suc-
cess and a lasting increase in company value in a dynamic envi-
ronment.

The remuneration system of the Executive Board consists
of fixed components (which are not performance-related) and
variable performance-related components. Elements which are
not performance-related are fixed cash emoluments, benefits
in kind or fringe benefits and pension commitments. The per-
formance-related components are variable cash emoluments
and share-based payments. The variable cash emoluments are
determined on the basis of a one-year period, while the share-
based payments are calculated over periods of several years. As
3 supplement to the remuneration components already men-
tioned, the employment contract of the Chief Executive Officer
also provides for potential project-related bonuses which are
determined on the basis of periods of several years. Assuming
all performance targets that apply to variable cash emoluments
are achieved in full, the target remuneration in any given year,
i.e. the sum total of all fixed components, variable cash emol-
uments and share-based payments, would roughly correspond
to a 30/70 percent split between the fixed component (which
is not performance-related) and the variable component (which
is performance-related) respectively. Assuming all performance
targets that apply to variable cash emoluments are achieved in
full, the value of the variable emoluments payable to the Execu-
tive Board in any given year would roughly correspond on aver-
age to a 55/45 percent split between components calculated
on the basis of a single year and components calculated over a
period of several years respectively.

The cash emoluments are based on an annual target income,
around 40 percent of which on average is paid to the Board
member in fixed monthly amounts if all the performance objec-
tives are met in full, while around 60 percent is variable. The tar-
get income is reviewed at reqular intervals, at least every three
years. The last review was conducted on 1 January 2009. As a
result of this review, the target income of all the members of
the Executive Board was adjusted. The members of the Executive
Board receive no remuneration for any Group offices held.

Fixed emoluments (excluding pension commitments)

Each member of the Executive Board receives fixed monthly cash
emoluments, which consist of a pensionable component (fixed
monthly emoluments) and a non-pensionable component (fixed
dividend-related bonus).

023

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

w
o
=z
<
=
[
e}
>
o
(]
w
=
<<
=
o
o
=
o
o

NOTES TO THE GROUP GROUP FINANCIAL GROUP MANAGEMENT LINDE SHARES
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STATEMENTS REPORT

FURTHER INFORMATION



024

EXECUTIVE BOARD

SUPERVISORY BOARD

[
o
=z
<
=
[
e}
>
o
(C]
w
=
<
=
(=]
-9
(==
o
o

NOTES TO THE GROUP GROUP FINANCIAL GROUP MANAGEMENT
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS STATEMENTS REPORT LINDE SHARES

FURTHER INFORMATION

Linde Financial Report 2010
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - Remuneration report

Benefits in kind are also provided. These must be individually
taxed according to the fiscal requlations which apply in each
case. They comprise mainly insurance benefits at normal market
rates and company cars and, in one case, the provision of secu-
rity arrangements.

Variable emoluments

Variable emoluments comprise share-based and performance-
based elements of remuneration related to the company. The
Supervisory Board has agreed potential limits which would apply
in exceptional circumstances. The level of variable emoluments
is linked to the achievement of certain financial and strategic
targets, movements in the share price and qualitative success
factors. The main performance indicators used in the calculation
of variable emoluments are return on capital employed (ROCE),
operating profit (EBIT), the company’s dividend, adjusted earn-
ings per share and movements in the share price. The targets set
for the variable emoluments align with the key performance indi-
cators used throughout the Group and with the interests of the
shareholders and other stakeholders.

Variable cash emoluments

Variable cash emoluments comprise a dividend-related bonus
and performance-related bonuses. These payments may be com-
pletely waived if performance targets are not achieved.

The dividend-related bonus is calculated for each member
of the Executive Board on the basis of an individually agreed
amount in euro for each EUR 0.01 of the dividend declared per
share at the Annual General Meeting which is due to be paid to
shareholders in the relevant financial year. The euro amount is
determined in advance for a period of three financial years at a
time. Of the resulting bonus entitlement, around 70 percent is
currently variable, taking into account the monthly instalments
paid in advance. If the unappropriated profit is based on retained
earnings brought forward or releases from provisions, this is not
included in the calculation of the dividend-related bonus.

The amount of the performance-related bonus is dependent
on the achievement of certain objectives specified at the begin-
ning of the financial year by the Supervisory Board for that finan-
cial year. The objectives are generally based on multi-year busi-
ness plans. The main success factors influencing this bonus are
return on capital employed (ROCE) and operating profit (EBIT).
These two items generally account for 70 percent of the bonus.
The remaining 30 percent is based on individual targets. In the
case of the Chief Financial Officer, the indicator-based targets
and personal targets are weighted 50/50. For the Chief Execu-
tive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, financial targets are
determined on the basis of Group indicators. For those members
of the Executive Board responsible for operations, the targets are
determined on the basis of comparable figures from the divisions
and regions for which they are responsible. The performance-

related bonus has an upper limit. The portion based on indicators
will not exceed 200 percent of the bonus amount agreed, and
the portion based on individual targets will not exceed 100 per-
cent of this amount. The Chief Executive Officer has entitlements
to bonus payments guaranteed by contract if he achieves certain
demanding acquisition, divestment and integration targets. The
amount of these bonuses is determined in each individual case.
These bonuses also have an upper limit.

The variable emoluments are payable on the day after the
Annual General Meeting at which the appropriation of profits is
decided.

Share-based emoluments

Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002

Until the 2006 financial year, members of the Executive Board
received a variable component with a long-term incentive in the
form of options granted every year, based on the share option
scheme approved at the Annual General Meeting in May 2002.
This scheme (Management Incentive Programme 2002) applied
to members of the Executive Board, members of the manage-
ment boards of affiliated companies and selected executives. In
2006, the last options were issued under this scheme. In total,
1.2 million subscription rights were granted to members of the
Executive Board. Each option confers the right to subscribe to
one share in Linde AG at the exercise price. The exercise price
for acquiring one new share is 120 percent of the base price. The
base price is the average closing price of Linde shares in Xetra
trading on the Frankfurt stock exchange over the last five trad-
ing days before the issue date of the options. The options were
issued in five annual tranches from 2002, each with a term of
seven years. There is a two-year qualifying period, which com-
mences on the issue date. During the remaining five-year term,
the options can be exercised at any time, except during blocked
periods. The seven-year term of the options in the 2002 tranche
ended in July 2009; the options of the 2003 tranche ended in
June 2010. Options in the 2002 and 2003 tranches which had
not been exercised by these times duly expired. At the balance
sheet date, options in the 2004, 2005 and 2006 tranches issued
to participants could still be exercised provided the qualifying
requirements are met.

In the 2010 financial year, four tranches in the scheme were
valuable and exercisable. The exercise prices of the four tranches
vary between EUR 32.38 and EUR 81.76. The Supervisory Board
determined the options to be allocated to members of the Execu-
tive Board and, for other employees entitled to options, the Exec-
utive Board decided on the allocations, with the approval of the
Supervisory Board. With effect from the 2004 tranche, the Super-
visory Board can decide to restrict the exercise of options issued
to members of the Executive Board if there are exceptional
unforeseen movements in the Linde share price. In total, mem-
bers of the Executive Board held 195,000 options at the balance
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sheet date (2009: 535,000), which were theoretically all exercis-
able as the qualifying period had expired. In the 2010 financial
year, members of the Executive Board exercised 340,000 options
(2009: 100,000).

Movements in the options issued to the current members of
the Executive Board under the Linde Management Incentive Pro-
gramme 2002 were as follows:

Options - Linde Management Incentive Programme 2002

At 1 January

Exercised in the financial year

At 31 December

Weighted Weighted ~ Weighted Range of  Weighted  Weighted
average average average exercise average average
exercise exercise  share price prices exercise  remaining

price price  at exercise price life
date
in units in € in units in€ in€ in units in€ in€ in years
Professor Dr

Wolfgang Reitzle 2010 390,000 64.85 260,000 56.40 96.37 130,000 81.76 81.76 23
(Chairman) 2009 460,000 59.91 70,000 32.38 66.74 390,000 47.91-81.76 64.85 2.4
Dr Aldo Belloni 2010 120,000 64.85 80,000 56.40 99.69 40,000 81.76 81.76 23
2009 150,000 58.36 30,000 32.38 84.92 120,000 47.91-81.76 64.85 2.4
Georg Denoke 2010 25,000 75.01 - - - 25,000 64.88-81.76 75.01 2.0
2009 25,000 75.01 - - - 25,000 64.88-81.76 75.01 3.0

Total 2010 535,000 340,000 195,000

2009 635,000 100,000 535,000

During the 2009 and 2010 financial years, none of the options
held by the Executive Board expired or were forfeited. The Exec-
utive Board member J. Kent Masters is not a participant in this
scheme as he joined The Linde Group after the last tranche had
been issued.

Further information about the Linde Management Incentive
Programme 2002 is given in Note [28] of the Notes to the Group
financial statements.

Linde Performance Share Programme 2007

It was resolved at the Annual General Meeting on 5 June 2007
to introduce a new long-term incentive scheme (Linde Perfor-
mance Share Programme 2007) which would cover a five-year
period. Participants in the scheme were to include not only mem-
bers of the Executive Board, but also selected executives (mem-
bers of the management boards of Linde AG Group companies,
as well as selected executives of Linde AG and its Group compa-
nies). The options may be issued in five annual tranches, in each
case within a period of twelve weeks following the company’s
Annual General Meeting. The Supervisory Board determines the
allocation of options to members of the Executive Board, while
the Executive Board determines the allocation for lower man-

agement tiers. Options are granted to members of the Executive
Board for a particular value. The number of options to be issued
to a member of the Executive Board is determined on the basis
of the fair value per option according to an actuarial report at the
grant date. The term of the options is calculated as three years,
two months and two weeks from the issue date. The optionsin a
tranche are to be exercised once a vesting period of three years
from the date of issue has been completed, over a period of four
weeks, if and to the extent that certain performance targets are
met. Each option confers the right to purchase one share in Linde
AG at the exercise price, which is equivalent in each case to the
lowest issue price, currently EUR 2.56.
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The performance targets for each individual tranche are based
on conditions laid down at the Annual General Meeting and on
movements in earnings per share, absolute total shareholder
return and relative total shareholder return. Within each of these
performance targets, there is a minimum target, which must be
reached if options are to be exercisable, and a stretch target.
If the stretch target is reached, all the options become exercis-
able based on the weighting attached to that particular perfor-
mance target. If there are exceptional unforeseen movements
in the price of Linde shares, the Supervisory Board can restrict
in whole or in part the volume or extent of options granted to
members of the Executive Board. At the Annual General Meet-
ing, it was resolved that members of the Executive Board would

be subject to a two-year holding period for 25 percent of the
shares issued.

In the 2010 financial year, the fourth tranche of options was
allocated. Options were granted to 868 (2009: 862) partici-
pants. At the start of August 2010, the vesting period for the first
tranche of this programme ended. The stretch target was reached
in relation to the relative total shareholder return performance
target. The minimum targets were not achieved for the other two
performance targets. As a result, 30 percent of the options were
exercisable and the remainder expired.

Movements in the options issued to members of the Execu-
tive Board under the Performance Share Programme 2007 were
as follows:

Options - Linde Performance Share Programme 2007

Granted in the
financial year

At 1 January

Exercised in the At 31 December

financial year

Expired in the
financial year

Weighted Weighted
average share average
price at remaining
exercise date life
in units in units in units in€ in units in units in years
Professor Dr

Wolfgang Reitzle 2010 137,564 39,032 12,559 93.67 29,305 134,732 1.5
(Chairman) 2009 78,810 58,754 - - - 137,564 1.6
Dr Aldo Belloni 2010 45,854 13,011 4,186 93.67 9,768 44,911 1.5
2009 26,269 19,585 - - - 45,854 1.6
Georg Denoke 2010 45,854 13,011 4,186 89.07 9,768 44,911 1.5
2009 26,269 19,585 - - - 45,854 1.6
J. Kent Masters 2010 45,854 13,011 4,186 93.67 9,768 44,911 1.5
2009 26,269 19,585 - - - 45,854 1.6

Total 2010 275,126 78,065 25,117 58,609 269,465

2009 157,617 117,509 - - 275,126

All the options held at 31 December 2010 were not yet exercis-
able. The exercise price of all the options is currently EUR 2.56
each. During the 2009 and 2010 financial years, none of the
options held by the Executive Board expired.

Further information about the value of the options, and about
the structure, conditions and, in particular, performance targets
of the scheme is given in Note [28] of the Notes to the Group
financial statements. Information about the rules which apply in
the event of a change of control is given on page 088 in the
Group management report (Disclosures in accordance with Sec-
tion 315 (4) of the German Commercial Code).
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Total cost of share-based emoluments

The total cost of share-based emoluments in 2010 was EUR 25m
(2009: EUR 10m). During the financial year, the following cost
was recognised in respect of share-based payment instruments
held by members of the Executive Board:

Cost of share-based payments

in€ 2010 2009
Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle

(Chairman) 2,086,583 869,166
Dr Aldo Belloni 695,520 289,718
Georg Denoke 695,520 289,718
J. Kent Masters 695,520 289,718
Total 4,173,143 1,738,320

Pension commitments

Individual contracts outlining pension commitments have been
concluded for the members of the Executive Board. The pen-
sion is based on a particular percentage of the most recently
paid fixed monthly emoluments. The percentage rate on entry
is 20 percent. This percentage increases by 2 percent for every
year of service completed by the member of the Executive Board.
The maximum percentage that can be achieved is 50 percent of
the last fixed monthly emoluments paid. For pension commit-
ments entered into before 1 July 2002, the percentage rate on
entry was 40 percent and the maximum percentage that could be
achieved was 60 percent. Payments are made on a monthly basis
once the member has retired from the company and is eligible
for his or her pension (old age pension from the age of 65, pen-
sion for medical disability or incapacity for work and surviving
dependants’ pension in the event of death). A widow or widower
receives 60 percent of the pension of the deceased member of
the Executive Board. The commitments also include benefits for
any orphans or children who have lost one parent. Each child
entitled to maintenance receives 10 percent (in the case of chil-
dren who have lost one parent) up to a maximum of 25 percent
(in the case of orphans) of the pension of the contracting party,
generally until his or her 18th birthday, although maintenance
may continue to be paid until he or she reaches the age of 27. If
the deceased left several children, the amounts are reduced pro-
portionately and limited in total to half of the pension to which
the contracting party was entitled. The total maintenance pay-
ments to surviving dependants must not exceed the full amount
of the pension of the contracting party. Current pensions are
adjusted annually to take account of the change in the retail price
index for private households based on information provided by
the German Statistical Office. If a member of the Executive Board
has reached his or her 55th birthday and completed ten years of

service on the Executive Board, and the employment contract is
terminated early by the Supervisory Board or the term of office
was not extended for reasons beyond the control of the mem-
ber of the Executive Board, he or she would immediately receive
the pension earned, taking into account other income. If, how-
ever, an Executive Board member has not completed ten years
of service on the Board and the employment contract is termi-
nated before he or she reaches the age of 55, he or she acquires
entitlement by law to a future pension benefit by way of supple-
ment to occupational pension benefits in the amount specified
by law, provided the Executive Board member was employed by
the company for a minimum period of three consecutive years.

Emoluments of the Executive Board for 2010

The total cash remuneration for members of the Executive
Board for performing their duties at Linde AG and its subsidiar-
ies in 2010 was EUR 11,901,132 (2009: EUR 10,462,310). The
increase in comparison with the prior year is mainly due to the
fact that the variable cash emoluments rose from EUR 6,431,873
to EUR 7,821,055. This figure also reflects the rise in perfor-
mance-related bonuses and dividend-related bonuses result-
ing from the significant improvement in various performance
indicators. The total remuneration was EUR 14,901,171 (2009:
EUR 13,462,315), which includes options granted to members
of the Executive Board under the Performance Share Programme
2007, which have a notional value of EUR 3,000,039 (2009:
EUR 3,000,005). In the 2010 financial year, a total of 78,065
options (2009: 117,509) were granted to members of the Execu-
tive Board. When they were granted, these options had a value
of EUR 38.43 (2009: EUR 25.53) per option.

Subject to approval of the annual financial statements of
Linde AG for the year ended 31 December 2010 and a corre-
sponding resolution from the Supervisory Board on the variable
cash remuneration for 2010, the emoluments for the individual
members of the Executive Board for 2010 are as follows:
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Cash emoluments Share options Pensions
Fixed  Benefitsin Variable Total cash Valueon  Total emo- Annual  Allocated to
emolu-  kind/Other emolu- emolu- the grant luments amount pension pro-
ments benefits ments ments date if pension vision in
were paid financial
on balance year
in € sheet date
Professor Dr
Wolfgang Reitzle 2010 1,960,000 58,933 3,435,000 5,453,933 1,500,000 6,953,933 537,600 1,178,074
(Chairman) 2009 1,960,000 39,352 2,721,250 4,720,602 1,499,990 6,220,592 518,400 2,046,780
Dr Aldo Belloni 2010 720,000 40,339 1,782,080 2,542,419 500,013 3,042,432 288,000 286,775
2009 720,000 29,739 1,457,148 2,206,887 500,005 2,706,892 288,000 780,503
Georg Denoke 2010 564,000 19,828 1,174,000 1,757,828 500,013 2,257,841 130,560 169,169
2009 564,000 13,467 946,500 1,523,967 500,005 2,023,972 122,400 243,211
J. Kent Masters 2010 672,000 44977 1,429,975 2,146,952 500,013 2,646,965 195,360 247,367
2009 672,000 31,879 1,306,975 2,010,854 500,005 2,510,859 190,920 262,102
Total 2010 3,916,000 164,077 7,821,055 11,901,132 3,000,039 14,901,171 1,881,385
(%) 26 1 53 80 20 100
Total 2009 3,916,000 114,437 6,431,873 10,462,310 3,000,005 13,462,315 3,332,596
(%) 29 1 48 78 22 100

At 31 December 2010, pension provisions relating to members
of the Executive Board who were active members of the pension
scheme were EUR 12,141,148 (2009: EUR 10,259,762) in The
Linde Group and EUR 11,500,738 (2009: EUR 11,305,406) in the
financial statements of Linde AG. The differences in the amounts
disclosed are attributable to different accounting parameters used
to calculate the figures in the Group financial statements and
the annual financial statements. At the closing date, the present
values of pension commitments accruing to individual Executive
Board members shown on the balance sheet were as follows:
Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle EUR 9,585,450 (Group),
EUR 9,106,245 (Linde AG); Dr Aldo Belloni EUR 3,638,055 (Group),
EUR 3,475,927 (Linde AG); Georg Denoke EUR 2,347,283 (Group),
EUR 2,126,397 (Linde AG); ). Kent Masters EUR 3,184,662 (Group),
EUR 2,929,762 (Linde AG).

—~ S~

Benefits in the event of termination of a contract

Members of the Executive Board who are not reappointed
between the ages of 55 and 63 for reasons beyond their con-
trol receive a lump sum severance payment corresponding to
50 percent of their annual cash remuneration (fixed monthly
emoluments, dividend-related bonus and performance-related
bonus) for the last full financial year before the termination of
their employment. In the contract concluded with Chief Executive
Officer Professor Dr Wolfgang Reitzle prior to 2009 (pre-exist-
ing contract), it is stipulated that the severance payment in the
event of non-renewal after the age of 55 will be based on per-
formance; in particular that the performance-related bonus will

be calculated on the basis of the average of the performance-
related bonuses paid in the previous three years.

In 2009, when the Supervisory Board reappointed Dr Aldo
Belloni, Georg Denoke and J. Kent Masters to the Executive
Board, it incorporated the recommendations set out in Section
4.2.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code relating to sev-
erance pay caps into their new employment contracts. In com-
pliance with the Code, all contracts with members of the Execu-
tive Board concluded or renewed as of 2009 and new contracts
which are concluded or renewed in the future (new contracts)
will include the provision outlined in the following. If a member
of the Executive Board is prematurely removed from the Board,
without cause for the termination of employment, the severance
pay will be capped at twice the annual cash emoluments (fixed
monthly emoluments, dividend-related bonus and performance-
related bonus). The calculation is based on the annual cash
emoluments for the last full financial year prior to the removal of
the member from the Executive Board. If the annual cash emol-
uments of the member of the Executive Board for the financial
year in which his or her employment is terminated are likely to
be significantly higher or lower than the annual cash emolu-
ments for the last full financial year, the Supervisory Board may
at its discretion decide to make an adjustment to the calcula-
tion of the annual cash emoluments. If the original remaining
term of the employment contract was less than two years, the
severance pay would be calculated pro rata. For the period on
the basis of which the severance pay is determined, the mem-
bers of the Executive Board receive no pension payments. Prior
to 2009, contracts of employment did not include a clause to this
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effect. Under these contracts, premature termination of an Exec-
utive Board position did not affect the remuneration entitlement
accruing to the Board member in question for the remaining term
of the contract.

If Linde AG is acquired by another company and there is a
change of control, and an employment contract is terminated
within nine months of that date by mutual agreement, failure to
renew the contract at the appropriate point in time, or resigna-
tion of the member of the Executive Board as a result of his or
her position on the Board being significantly compromised by the
takeover, members of the Executive Board have an entitlement
to benefits based on their contractual cash emoluments but lim-
ited in extent. However, the burden of proof is on the member of
the Executive Board to demonstrate the actual circumstances as
a result of which his or her position has been significantly com-
promised.

For the pre-existing contracts the following compensation and
severance pay rules apply in the event of a change of control. In
addition to compensation, comprising the cash emoluments he
or she will be forfeiting for the remaining term of his or her con-
tract (the total of the annual fixed emoluments, the dividend-
related bonus based on the figure for the prior financial year
and the performance-related bonus based on the average of the
past three financial years, less an overall reduction of 25 per-
cent), the member of the Executive Board has, in each individual
case, an entitlement to receive severance pay equal to the full
amount of the annual cash remuneration. If the member of the
Executive Board has reached the age of 55 when the employ-
ment contract ends and has been on the Board for at least five
years, the severance pay increases to three times the full amount
of the annual cash remuneration. There is no right to severance
pay if the member of the Executive Board has been a member
for less than three years, or if he or she has not yet reached
the age of 52 or has already reached the age of 63 when the
employment contract ends. The total compensation comprising
the cash remuneration plus the severance pay must not exceed
an amount equivalent to five times the full amount of the annual
cash remuneration.

When the contracts of Executive Board members Dr Aldo
Belloni, Georg Denoke and J. Kent Masters were renewed in the
2009 financial year, the recommendation set out in Section 4.2.3
of the German Corporate Governance Code relating to severance
caps in the event of a change of control was adopted. In accor-
dance with the Code, all Executive Board contracts which have
been concluded or renewed as of 2009 and contracts concluded
or renewed in future provide for severance pay in the event of
3 member retiring early from the Board due to a change of con-
trol that aligns with the amount payable in the event of early
retirement from the Board without cause under any other circum-
stances. Moreover, the Executive Board member would receive
additional compensation equivalent to his or her annual cash

emoluments (fixed monthly emoluments, dividend-related bonus
and performance-related bonus). The additional compensation
would not be payable if the member of the Executive Board had
served on the Board for less than three years or if he or she had
not yet reached the age of 52 or had already reached the age of
63 when the employment contract ended.

For both forms of contract (pre-existing contracts and new
contracts), the same rule applies. If the member of the Executive
Board receives benefits on the occasion of or in connection with
the acquisition by a majority shareholder, a controlling company or
another legal entity, these are taken into account when the com-
pensation and severance pay benefits are calculated. The pension
commitment is determined in accordance with the rules for the
early termination of an employment contract without cause.

Executive Board members are generally bound by a restraint
clause for a period of two years following termination of their
contracts. By way of compensation, the company undertakes to
pay former Board members an amount corresponding to 50 per-
cent of their fixed monthly emoluments during the period of
restraint. In the case of pre-existing contracts, the compensation
is determined by statutory guidelines. They stipulate that the
compensation shall correspond to 50 percent of the total remu-
neration paid to the Board member as averaged over the three
years prior to termination. The compensation qualifies to the full
extent for pension benefits.

If the member of the Executive Board leaves the company’s
service as a result of death or disability, he or she or his or her
heirs are entitled to the fixed monthly emoluments for the month
in which the employment contract ended, and for the six follow-
ing months. Moreover, he or she or his or her heirs are entitled
to that proportion of the dividend-related bonus and the perfor-
mance-related bonus in respect of that part of the year in which
the member of the Executive Board was active.

Loans and advances
During the financial year, no loans or advances were made to
members of the Executive Board.

Total emoluments of former members of the Executive Board
Former members of the Executive Board and their surviving
dependants received total emoluments of EUR 2,579,839 in the
2010 financial year (2009: EUR 2,667,115).

A provision of EUR 36,147,574 (2009: EUR 35,054,097) has
been made in the Group financial statements for current pensions
and future pension benefits in respect of former members of the
Executive Board and their surviving dependants. In the financial
statements of Linde AG, a provision of EUR 34,899,136 (2009:
EUR 36,836,129) was made. The differences in the amounts dis-
closed are attributable to different accounting parameters used
to calculate the figures in the Group financial statements and the
annual financial statements.
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2. Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The remuneration of the Supervisory Board was determined
at the Annual General Meeting based on a proposal from the
Executive Board and Supervisory Board and is governed by Arti-
cle 11 of the articles of association.

The emoluments comprise two components, a fixed compo-
nent and a variable one which is dependent on the company's
performance. Part of the variable component depends on the div-
idend. Another part is linked to the return on capital employed
(ROCE) for The Linde Group in the relevant financial year.

Fixed emoluments

Each member of the Supervisory Board receives annual fixed
emoluments of EUR 50,000, which are paid at the end of the
financial year.

Variable emoluments
The first part of the variable remuneration for each member of
the Supervisory Board is EUR 300 for each EUR 0.01 by which the
dividend declared at the Annual General Meeting exceeds a divi-
dend of EUR 0.50 per share with full dividend entitlement distrib-
uted to the shareholders. The second part of the variable remu-
neration is EUR 450 for each 0.1 percent by which the return on
capital employed (ROCE) of The Linde Group exceeds the rate of
7 percent in the relevant financial year. ROCE is determined on
the basis of the information in the relevant audited Group finan-
cial statements in accordance with IFRS and the articles of asso-
ciation. In 2010, ROCE calculated in this way was 12.5 percent
(2009: 10.4 percent).

The variable remuneration is paid on the day after the Annual
General Meeting which determines the appropriation of profits.

Emoluments of the Chairmen, Deputy Chairmen and commit-
tee members

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board receives three times the
fixed and variable emoluments, while each Deputy Chairman and
each member of the Standing Committee receives one and a half
times the amount. The Chairman of the Audit Committee receives
an additional EUR 40,000 and every other member of the Audit
Committee receives EUR 20,000. However, if a member of the
Supervisory Board holds several offices at the same time which
pay a higher level of remuneration, he or she only receives the
remuneration for the office which is the most highly paid.

Attendance fees

The company pays members of the Supervisory Board an atten-
dance fee of EUR 500 every time they attend a Supervisory Board
meeting or committee meeting. This amount remains unchanged
if several meetings take place on the same day.

VAT and reimbursement of expenses

Linde AG reimburses the members of the Supervisory Board for
any necessary expenses incurred and for VAT on their emolu-
ments.

Emoluments of the Supervisory Board for 2010
Based on a dividend of EUR 2.20 (2009: EUR 1.80) per share
entitled to dividend and a Group ROCE of 12.5 percent (2009:
10.4 percent), the total emoluments payable to the Supervisory
Board (fixed emoluments, variable emoluments and attendance
fees) amounted to EUR 2,105,000 (2009: EUR 1,739,800) plus
VAT of EUR 399,950 (2009: EUR 330,562). The total emoluments
can be broken down into a EUR 860,000 (2009: EUR 840,000)
fixed share and a EUR 1,212,000 (2009: EUR 868,800) variable
share. The total expenditure on attendance fees was EUR 33,000
(2009: EUR 31,000).

The individual members of the Supervisory Board received
the amounts listed in the following table:
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Fixed Variable  Emoluments for Attendance Total
emoluments emoluments  sitting on Audit fees emoluments! <S(
in € Committee 2
Dr Manfred Schneider 2010 150,000 227,250 4,000 381,250 E
(Chairman) 2009 150,000 162,900 4,000 316,900 e
Hans-Dieter Katte 2 2010 75,000 113,625 4,000 192,625
(Deputy Chairman) 2009 75,000 81,450 4,000 160,450 e
Michael Diekmann 2010 75,000 113,625 2,000 190,625 E
(Second Deputy Chairman) 2009 75,000 81,450 2,000 158,450 g
Dr Gerhard Beiten 2010 50,000 75,750 20,000 4,000 149,750 §
2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300 §
Dr Clemens Borsig 2010 50,000 75,750 40,000 4,000 169,750 2
2009 50,000 54,300 40,000 4,000 148,300
Gernot Hahl2 2010 75,000 113,625 3,000 191,625 g
2009 75,000 81,450 4,000 160,450 z
Thilo Kdmmerer2 2010 50,000 75,750 2,000 127,750 é
2009 50,000 54,300 1,500 105,800 E
Matthew Miau 2010 50,000 75,750 2,000 127,750 §
2009 50,000 54,300 1,500 105,800 S
Klaus-Peter Muller 2010 75,000 113,625 2,000 190,625
2009 75,000 81,450 2,000 158,450 o
Jens Riedel?2 2010 50,000 75,750 2,000 127,750 E
2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300 g
Xaver Schmidt2 2010 50,000 75,750 2,000 127,750 =
2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300
Josef Schregle 2010 50,000 75,750 2,000 127,750
2009 50,000 54,300 2,000 106,300 %
=
Total 2010 800,000 1,212,000 60,000 33,000 2,105,000 §§
Z 0o
(%) 38 57 3 2 100 =5
Total 2009 800,000 868,800 40,000 31,000 1,739,800 §
(%) 46 50 2 2 100

1 Amounts excluding VAT.

2 The employee representatives have decided to forward their remuneration to the Hans Bockler Foundation according to the guidelines of the Confederation
of German Trade Unions.

GROUP FINANCIAL
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Loans and advances
At 31 December 2010, there were no advances or loans to mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board.
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Linde Shares

International stock exchanges saw strong gains in 2010, as the general economic
recovery took hold. The Linde share price rose by around 35 percent, again
outperforming DAX, the German share index.

Linde share performance in 2010 compared with indices

Index Financial year 2010
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Stock markets rise again as recovery takes hold

In the 2010 financial year, the German share index (DAX) contin-
ved on the upward trend which began in 2009. It was another
year of good performances in the stock markets, with 3 16.1 per-
centrise in share prices. Once the DAX had recovered from profit-
taking at the beginning of the year, falling to its lowest point for
the year (5,434 points) on 5 February 2010, the rest of the year
saw positive trends. The rise in share prices was partly the result
of the improved economic situation, which also led to greater
profit growth for companies. The DAX reached its highest point
for the year of 7,078 points on 21 December and ended the year
on 6,914 points.

In 3 generally good year for stock markets, the German share
index outperformed most of the international indices. The MSCl
World Index rose 8.0 percent in 2010, while the European stock
market barometer D) EURO STOXX remained at around the same
level as at the end of 2009. The DAX was also the strongest per-
former when compared with the major national indices in Europe,
such as those in France (CAC 40 index, Paris, down 3.3 percent)
and England (the FTSE 100 index, London, up 9.0 percent). This
was primarily due to very good export trends in the German
economy.

Significant rises were also to be seen in stock markets in the
United States. The S&P 500 index was up 12.8 percent on 2009,
while there was a rise of 19.2 percent in the NASDAQ 100 index
in the technology stock market NASDAQ.

In this dynamic economic environment, share prices rose
once again in the emerging economies. The MSCI Emerging Mar-
kets index, for example, went up by 11.7 percent compared with
2009.

Linde shares reach an all-time high

The benefit accruing to Linde shares from positive sentiment
in the global stock markets and strong economic growth in the
emerging nations was again above average. Linde shares once
more outperformed the DAX, rising in price by 34.9 percent,
while the DAX increased by 16.1 percent. For the third year in a
row, Linde shares were one of the top ten performers in terms of
share price in Germany’s leading share index.

In the first half of 2010 in particular, the trend in the price of
Linde shares reflected that in the market as a whole. After profit-
taking at the beginning of the year, the share price fell to its low-
est point for the year of EUR 76.70 on 28 January 2010. As the
recovery took hold, boosted by good quarterly figures, the Linde
share price continued to rise steadily as the year progressed. In
the second half of the year, Linde shares increasingly lost their
link with the DAX trends, reaching historic highs. On 14 October
2010, Linde shares exceeded the EUR 100 threshold for the first
time in the history of the Group. On 29 December 2010, Linde
shares reached their highest price for the year at EUR 115.30

per share, which was also an all-time high. The share price at
31 December 2010 was EUR 113.55.

The capital market reflected in particular Linde’s continuous
improvement in profitability and its good strategic position in
the emerging economies, which are growing at a disproportion-
ately fast rate. Impetus was also generated by the Group’s confi-
dence in setting itself a target for the 2010 financial year, only a
year after the deep global recession, of achieving a new record
for Group operating profit. In the past year, Linde has not only
achieved an increase in sales, but also a significant improvement
in its operating margin.

Linde shares outperformed the market as a whole both in the
corrective phase of 2008 and during the stock market upturn in
2009 and more favourable economic circumstances of the past
year. This demonstrates that Linde shareholders value the rela-
tive stability of its business model, while at the same time rec-
ognising the attractive growth opportunities in the international
gases and plant construction business.

The Linde Group has also continued to meet with a very pos-
itive response in the credit market. The leading international
rating agencies Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s both increased
Linde’s credit ratings by one notch in April 2010. By doing so, the
agencies have not only recognised the Group’s relatively stable
business performance during the economic crisis, but have also
appreciated Linde’s maturity profile, which is geared towards the
long term, and its secure liquidity reserve.

During the financial year, Linde has been able to take advan-
tage of its repute and the good situation in the international
credit markets to strengthen its financial structure even more.
At the same time, Linde has agreed a new EUR 2.5bn credit line
with a strong international banking consortium in a favourable
market environment. This credit line replaced the existing syndi-
cated credit and the forward start facility agreed in 2009. Linde
has thereby secured itself a solid general liquidity reserve with
the banks.
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Capital market-based figures

2010 2009

Number of shares with dividend entitlement for the financial year No. 170,296,941 168,907,0962
Year-end closing price € 113.55 84.16
Year high € 115.30 87.95
Year low € 76.70 49.66
Total dividend Linde AG € million 375 304
Market capitalisation? € million 19,337 14,215
Average weekly volume No. 2,991,460 4,095,325
volatility1(200 days) in % 20.7 26.2
Information per share

Cash dividend € 2.20 1.80
Dividend yield in % 1.9 2.1
Operating cash flow € 14.22 12.68
Earnings3 € 6.89 4.58

T As at 31 December 2010.

2 Change due to the exercise of purchase options under the share option scheme.

3 Adjusted for the effects of the purchase price allocation.

Linde performance in comparison with the most important
indices?

2010 Weighting

Linde shares

in percent in percent

Linde (including dividend) 37.8 -
Linde (excluding dividend) 34.9 -
DAX 16.1 2.96
Prime Chemical 20.7 13.31
DJ EURO STOXX -0.1 0.69
DJ EURO STOXX Chemical 22.2 9.31
FTSE Eurofirst 300 7.3 0.25
FTSE E300 Chemical 19.2 6.42
MSCI Euro 8.0 0.34

T As at 31 December 2010.

Shareholder structure

Our annual shareholder identification survey conducted at
31 December 2010 showed that the proportion of Linde shares
held by institutional investors (80 percent) remained at nearly
the same level as in the prior year (2009: 81 percent). The pro-
portion of Linde shares held by private investors at 31 December
2010 was 20 percent.

The largest proportion of institutional investors (41 percent)
continues to come from North America (2009: 46 percent). At
the end of the 2010 financial year, German institutional investors
held 21 percent of Linde shares (2009: 13 percent). It should be
noted here that the 4 percent shareholding disclosed in respect
of Allianz, which was included in 2009 in major shareholders, is
now included in institutional investors. The proportion of British
institutional investors increased slightly from 14 percent at the
end of 2009 to 15 percent at 31 December 2010. With 7 percent
of Linde shares (2009: 10 percent), France remains the fourth
largest group of institutional investors in Linde, followed by
Scandinavia, Switzerland and the Benelux countries.

In the past financial year, Linde has again succeeded in broad-
ening its investor base to include a number of investors who take
a long-term view. The Group’s business model is geared towards
sustainable, profitable growth. Linde also benefits from a stable
financing structure and offers investors an attractive investment
which can boast steady long-term wealth creation.
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Shareholder structure
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Dividend payment

Linde has adopted an earnings-based dividend policy based on
continuity. The Executive Board and Supervisory Board will rec-
ommend the payment of a dividend of EUR 2.20 per share at the
Annual General Meeting on 12 May 2011. This is an increase of
22.2 percent over the prior-year dividend of EUR 1.80. This gives
a dividend payout ratio of 37.3 percent, based on net income for
the year. The dividend yield was 1.9 percent, based on the year-
end close.

Resolutions passed at the Annual General Meeting on
4 May 2010
Subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the Executive
Board of Linde AG was authorised to acquire 10 percent of share
capital in own shares by 3 May 2015. In addition, Authorised
Capital | was abolished in accordance with Article 3.6 of the arti-
cles of association and the Executive Board was authorised, with
the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the capital
subscribed by up to EUR 20 m until 3 May 2015 by issuing, on one
or more occasions, a total of up to 7,812,500 new bearer shares
(Authorised Capital I).

In addition, the authorisations to issue convertible bonds
and/or warrant-linked bonds and the corresponding condition-

ally authorised capital in accordance with Article 3.8 of the arti-
cles of association (2005 conditionally authorised capital) and in
accordance with Article 3.11 of the articles of association (2008
conditionally authorised capital) were abolished and the Execu-
tive Board was authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory
Board, to issue convertible bonds and/or warrant-linked bonds
until 3 May 2015. In order to issue the options and conversion
rights, it was resolved to create a new 2010 conditionally autho-
rised capital.

Investor relations activities

In the 2010 financial year, Linde has continued to communi-
cate closely with participants in the capital market, conduct-
ing more than 300 individual conversations with financial ana-
lysts and investors. At 25 conferences and roadshows, the Group
has offered its shareholders and potential new investors the
opportunity to speak to members of the Executive Board. The
issues discussed included the stability of Linde’s business model
and, increasingly, the growth prospects of the Group. Linde has
been able to convince German and international investors of the
potential offered by its products, technologies and services in
the promising fields of energy, health and the environment. The
Group also highlighted its good position in the emerging econ-
omies, especially in Asia, and explained in detail the synergies
between its gases and engineering businesses.

Transparency, continuity and reliability will continue to be
the guiding principles for the Group’s investor relations activities
in the current year 2011. Linde will put forward the arguments
which continue to make an investment in the Group an attractive
proposition: a robust, forward-looking business model, financ-
ing geared towards the long term and excellent positions in fast-
growing markets and regions.

All current information about Linde shares can be found on the
Group’s website at www.linde.com in the Investor Relations section.
Information and answers to any questions you have can be obtained
by calling the Investor Relations team on +49.89.35757-1321.
You are also welcome to send us your questions online at
investorrelations@linde.com.

Linde share information

Type of share Bearer shares

Stock exchanges! All German stock exchanges

Security reference numbers ISIN DE0006483001

CUSIP 648300

Reuters (Xetra) LING.DE

Bloomberg LIN GR

1 The listing on the Zurich stock exchange ceased as of 22 March 2010.
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Group Management Report

The overall economic upswing in 2010 gained momentum as the year progressed.
Linde capitalised on this positive trend, achieving significant growth in Group sales
and Group operating profit. Group sales rose to EUR 12.868 bn, up 14.8 percent
on the prior year (2009: EUR 11.211bn). Group operating profit increased
22.6 percent to EUR 2.925bn (2009: EUR 2.385bn). The Group operating margin
rose to 22.7 percent in the period under review, up 140 basis points on the prior-year
figure of 21.3 percent.

Group sales and Group operating profit (in € million)
Group sales Group operating profit

2008 2009 2010 2008 2009 2010
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Macroeconomic environment

Gross Domestic Product (GDP) in real terms’

% Growth
% Weighting 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Western Europe 26.9 3.0 2.6 0.5 -4.0 1.9
Eurozone 201 3.0 2.7 0.5 -39 1.7
Germany 5.7 3.4 2.6 1.0 -4.8 3.6
Americas 33.8 3.1 2.7 1.0 -25 3.4
us 25.7 2.7 2.1 0.4 -25 2.9
Asia & Eastern Europe 21.8 8.1 8.2 53 1.8 7.2
China 7.4 11.6 13.0 9.0 8.6 10.1
South Pacific & Africa 2.8 3.6 4.5 2.7 0.6 3.1
World 100.0 4.0 3.8 1.6 -2.2 412
1 Source: Global Insight, in respect of countries in which Linde operates.
2 Inrespect of 204 countries around the world.
Industrial Production (IP)1
% Growth
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
Western Europe 3.2 2.8 -2.1 -12.6 5.2
Eurozone 3.9 3.2 -2.1 -13.5 5.9
Germany 5.8 5.9 0.0 -15.5 9.8
Americas 2.6 2.0 -1.6 -9.3 5.7
us 2.3 1.5 -2.2 -10.0 5.4
Asia & Eastern Europe 9.4 9.6 5.1 0.3 12.2
China 16.2 17.9 12.5 11.0 15.2
South Pacific & Africa 13 3.2 1.7 -4.8 3.8
World 4.3 3.9 -0.4 -9.2 8.02

1 Source: Global Insight, in respect of countries in which Linde operates.
2 In respect of 204 countries around the world.

Overview of global economic trends

2010 was a year of recovery from the global economic cri-
sis. Data collected by international forecasting institute Global
Insight shows that global GDP contracted by 2.2 percent in 2009.
By comparison, it rose by 4.1 percent in 2010. The year under
review also saw global industrial production rise by a sizeable
8.0 percent. This was not sufficient, however, to return to pre-cri-
sis levels as industrial production dropped 9.2 percent in 2009.

The overall pace of economic recovery slowed over the course
of 2010 although marked variations were evident at regional
level. Emerging economies, for example, were already starting
to recover at the end of 2009. This upswing gained momentum
during 2010. In more developed economies, however, recovery
was generally slower. One of the challenges lies in turning the
impetus fuelled thus far mainly by government recovery pack-
ages into sustainable growth.
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Western Europe

In 2009, the crisis led to GDP in Western Europe falling 4.0 per-
cent. 2010 was a year of moderate growth, with GDP up slightly
by 1.9 percent. 2009 also saw industrial production fall sharply
by 12.6 percent. The region has only recovered part of this loss
with a 5.2 percent increase in 2010.

The pace of economic recovery varied significantly across the
individual countries in Western Europe. Germany experienced
above-average growth during the period under review, with GDP
rising 3.6 percent. Growth here was initially mainly fuelled by ris-
ing exports, although domestic demand also revived as the year
progressed, as did, in particular, consumer spending and demand
for capital goods.

In contrast, countries such as Spain, Portugal and Ireland
faced high unemployment levels and a strong tendency for the
market to consolidate. As a result, economic output hardly grew
in these markets. GDP in Spain even dropped slightly.

Americas

The US economy recovered to some degree in 2010. Extensive
economic recovery packages plus an expansive monetary pol-
icy fuelled a 2.9 percent rise in GDP. Industrial production was
5.4 percent up on the prior year. Despite this upswing, there are
still uncertainties surrounding economic growth in the US. Unem-
ployment remained high and the property market showed no
signs of recovery. Consumer spending was also restrained.

The economic upswing in South America proved stronger than
expected in 2010. The region’s GDP grew by 6.2 percent and
industrial production by 7.9 percent. This growth was due primar-
ily to high raw material prices, healthy financing conditions and
government recovery packages.

Asia & Eastern Europe

Overall, Asia & Eastern Europe emerged strongly from the global
economic crisis in 2010, with the region reporting a 7.2 percent
rise in GDP. Industrial production increased by 12.2 percent. How-
ever, the rate of recovery differed across the region.

Asia was the strongest performer worldwide, reporting the
fastest and sharpest recovery rates. Economic output has already
topped pre-crisis levels in many areas. This dynamic growth was
primarily driven by exports and consumer demand. Government
recovery packages also had a major impact, although these pro-
grammes have now been downscaled, resulting in a subsequent
slowdown in growth.

China was again the biggest driver of economic growth in
Asia last year. Following 8.6 percent GDP growth in 2009, what
is now Asia’s largest economy again experienced a strong rise of
10.1 percent in 2010.

Eastern Europe was strongly hit by the crisis in 2009, expe-
riencing moderate recovery in the year under review. Key fac-
tors here were the high price of raw materials and the onset of

revival in Russia, which grew economic output by 4.0 percent last
year. GDP in Eastern Europe as a whole grew 3.4 percent. Indus-
trial production was up 7.3 percent.

South Pacific & Africa

The economy in the South Pacific & Africa region weathered the
crisis relatively well in 2009. In 2010, GDP for the region rose
3.1 percent. Industrial production was up 3.8 percent. Austra-
lia, the region’s largest economy, benefited in particular from
increased investment in the energy and mining sectors. Recov-
ery packages also had a positive impact here.

Africa also returned to a growth path, with GDP in this region
increasing by 4.1 percent in 2010. Despite this rise, economic
output in key markets did not return to pre-crisis levels. In South
Africa, for example, industrial production increased only 5.4 per-
cent last year, compared with a drop of 8.3 percent in 2009.
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Sector-specific background

Gases industry

The international gases market expanded significantly in 2010,
driven by the general economic upswing. However, performance
varied considerably across regions and industry sectors.

North America and Europe remain the Group's largest sales
markets, followed by Asia, which, by comparison, showed a
much more dynamic pace of recovery.

In 2010, production levels in the steel industry, an important
customer segment for the gases business, rose by double-digit
figures relative to 2009, a year marked by the economic crisis.
These increases were primarily fuelled by emerging economies,
in particular China, where almost half of the world’s steel is now
produced. The steel industry is also expanding rapidly in India.
In Europe and the US, however, steel production has not yet
returned to 2008 levels.

In the chemical sector, the economic upturn that started last
year was also mainly due to rapidly rising demand in growth
markets and the expansion of capacity to meet new demand.
Sales markets in more established economies have not yet fully
recovered. Prices for energy and raw materials are subject to
extreme fluctuations here. The situation is further compounded
by a strong squeeze on prices and profits.

In the oil and natural gas industry, refinery profits showed
marked signs of improvement during the period under review due
to higher margins and increased demand. However, performance
here also differs from region to region. While BRIC countries (see
glossary) and the nations of the Middle East continued to expe-
rience strong growth, other regions developed at a slower pace.
Excess refinery capacity was downscaled accordingly.

The economic backdrop for manufacturing industries increas-
ingly stabilised throughout the course of 2010. Traditional sec-
tors such as the car and ship building industries benefited from
strong growth rates in emerging markets, particularly Asia.

In Europe and North America, increasingly rigorous environ-
mental requirements boosted investment in sustainable energy
production. Furthermore, demand for new performance materi-
als increased in developed countries.

The semiconductor industry recovered from its major down-
turn in 2009, reporting a double-digit increase in sales for the
year under review. The industry also benefited from a sharp rise
in demand for silicon.

The global LED market (see glossary) also experienced
dynamic growth due to steadily rising demand for energy-effi-
cient products. Major economies such as China, Japan and the US,
for example, are investing in LED-enabled energy-saving light-
ing technologies.

The growing prioritisation of measures to mitigate climate
change also led to a rapid expansion of the solar cell and solar
module market in 2010. The installed photovoltaic capacity has
almost doubled worldwide and is currently between 13 and 15
gigawatts.

The food and drinks industry, which remained robust in the face
of the crisis in 2009, continued on its stable growth path in 2010.
The global drinks market grew by 3 percent, although figures
varied at regional level. Whereas the carbonated drinks market,
for example, contracted slightly in most developed countries, it
underwent dynamic growth in emerging economies such as India
and China. The industry also benefited from continuing shifts in
consumer preferences, which are pushing demand for conve-
nience products such as pre-portioned ready-made meals.

The market for medical gases (Healthcare unit) experienced
growth in 2010, albeit at a slower rate than that recorded in pre-
vious years.

Driven by demographic change, healthcare nonetheless
remains a key global megatrend for Linde. Populations are age-
ing in a large number of countries. At the same time, chronic
disorders that can increasingly be treated in settings other than
hospitals are on the rise. Innovative therapies and better patient
access to these types of treatment have a positive impact on the
healthcare business.

Engineering business

Following the global financial and economic crisis, 2010 was a

year of slow recovery for many key industries such as oil, gas,

chemicals, petrochemicals, steel, electronics and automotive.
The economic climate also improved in the global market for

large-scale plant engineering, although investment activity has

not returned to 2008 levels in all areas.

Air separation units
Overall investment in the air separation market revived during
the course of 2010. Increased steel production was a key driver
here. Demand also increased from the energy sector, in particu-
lar for gasification projects (see glossary). Increased demand for
ultra-pure nitrogen for electronic applications also led to the con-
struction of new air separation units.

Investment activity was strongest in China, followed by Rus-
sia and CIS countries (see glossary).
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Olefin plants

The petrochemical industry recovered quickly from the financial
crisis. Growing at a rate of between 3.5 and 4 percent, it virtually
returned to normal levels. There is still a degree of excess capac-
ity in this area, however, as a number of major projects were
completed before the financial and economic crisis hit.

Natural gas plants

During the period under review, the price of crude oil fluctu-
ated between USD 70 and USD 80 - on average around USD 10
higher than prices in 2009. However, these prices are still around
50 percent below the highest figures from 2008.

The economic upswing created a slight rise in demand for
oil and gas in Linde’s most important sales markets. Neverthe-
less, supply is still slightly higher than demand in these markets.
In this environment, the oil and gas players remained cautious
about implementing or expanding new and existing projects.
Notable exceptions here were China and Australia, as both mar-
kets invested in new natural gas liquefaction plants. Australia is
focusing on coal seam gas, while China is primarily interested in
plants with small to medium liquefaction capacity for regional
energy supplies.

Hydrogen and synthesis gas plants

The market for hydrogen and synthesis gas plants grew mod-
erately in 2010. Smaller plants in particular were in demand. In
the case of larger projects, investors proved more cautious than
before the financial and economic crisis. A number of projects
are currently undergoing feasibility studies.
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Value-based and operational management

Linde pursues a corporate strategy of sustainable earnings-based
growth, with the aim of achieving a steady increase in corporate
value. To measure the medium-term and long-term financial suc-
cess of this value-based management strategy, the Group uses
return on capital employed (ROCE) as a key performance indi-
cator.

The definition of ROCE takes account of the effects of the
acquisition of BOC in the 2006 financial year. On the one hand,
capital invested increased significantly due to the acquisition. On
the other hand, earnings were adversely affected by the amor-
tisation of fair value adjustments identified in the course of the
purchase price allocation. This reduced the return on capital,
although Linde’s operating performance has not been changed
as a result of the identification of fair value adjustments and
their amortisation. To ensure that the operating performance of
the Group is transparent and disclosed in @ way which is compa-
rable to the disclosures of its major competitors, Linde has elimi-
nated the amortisation of fair value adjustments identified in the
course of the BOC purchase price allocation from its ROCE calcu-
lation.

To achieve sustainable and successful growth, Linde works
together with various customers on the basis of joint venture
business models. So that the current joint ventures, which form a
major operational component of the Gases Division, are included
in the management ratios and performance indicators, Linde’s
share of the income from associates and joint ventures, based on
the respective earnings after taxes on income, has been added
to the figure for EBIT in the ROCE calculation.

The calculation of the core ROCE indicator for The Linde Group
can be summarised as follows:

Definition of ROCE

EBIT

(including income from associates and joint
ventures, excluding interest cost for pension
obligations)

Return

Amortisation of fair value adjustments identified
in the course of the purchase price allocation

Non-recurring items

Equity

Financial debt

Liabilities from financial services
Capital

employed]

Net pension obligations

Cash and cash equivalents and securities

Receivables from financial services

III+I+I+I

1T Each calculated on the basis of the average of the figures at the balance
sheet date for the current year and prior year.

Based on this definition, Linde achieved ROCE at Group level in
the 2010 financial year of 12.5 percent (2009: 10.4 percent).
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To manage its operating business and indicate its performance,
Linde not only uses ROCE as a management tool, but also other
key performance indicators such as free cash flow before financing
activities, earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amorti-
sation (EBITDA adjusted for the effect of non-recurring items, see
glossary), earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) and earnings per
share (EPS). Both EBIT and EPS are adjusted for the amortisation of
the fair value adjustments identified in the course of the purchase
price allocation. A reconciliation between the reported figures for
EBIT and EPS and the adjusted figures is included in Note [40] of
the Notes to the Group financial statements. The calculation of
the variable remuneration of management is also based on these
figures.

In the 2008 financial year, Linde began implementing its HPO
(High Performance Organisation) efficiency programme. In 2010,
the Group continued to execute this strategy systematically. HPO
is 3 holistic concept for lasting process optimisation and produc-
tivity gains and should result in total gross cost savings in the
financial years from 2009 to 2012 of between EUR 650m and
EUR 800 m. It should also make an ongoing contribution to Group
competitiveness irrespective of the economic climate. In this con-
text, additional key performance indicators for the measurement
of productivity were introduced for all operating units and inte-
grated into Linde’s value-based management system. All individ-
ual efficiency improvement measures are centrally monitored and
reviewed for lasting success.

The Group consists of the Gases Division, the Engineering Divi-
sion and Other Activities. In the Gases Division, Linde empow-
ers its local management teams to provide their customers with
the best possible value-added service. Therefore, the managers
in the nine Regional Business Units (RBUs) within the four oper-
ating segments - Western Europe, the Americas, Asia & Eastern
Europe and South Pacific & Africa - are responsible for the oper-
ating business in their areas. The capital expenditure process is
managed centrally. This structure means that the Group takes into
account the importance of local and regional market dynamics in
the gases business.

Responsibility for the Tonnage (on-site) and Healthcare (med-
ical gases) businesses is also vested in a global centralised func-
tion. In the on-site business, this enables Linde to meet the inter-
national requirements of its major customers. In the Healthcare
business, this central function allows the company to respond
more precisely and systematically to the specific requirements of
this increasingly regulated sector.

This operating model is reflected in the allocation of responsi-
bilities to members of the Group’s Executive Board, ensuring that
individual strengths and skills are maximised at both regional and
product levels.

Organisational structure

The Linde Group

Other
Activities

Engineering
Division

Gases Division

Cleaning Enterprises
(Fred Butler®)

—

vl Asia & Eastern Europe
el SOUth Pacific & Africa

Americas

Organisational structure of The Linde Group. The Group consists of the Gases
Division, the Engineering Division and Other Activities. Within the Gases
Division, there are four operating segments: Western Europe, the Americas,
Asia & Eastern Europe and South Pacific & Africa. Other Activities comprises Gist
(our logistics services business) and the subsidiary Cleaning Enterprises (envi-
ronmentally friendly dry-cleaning under the brand name Fred Butler®).
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Business review of The Linde Group

The overall economic upswing of 2010 gained momentum as
the year progressed. Linde capitalised on this positive trend,
achieving significant growth in Group sales and Group operat-
ing profit.

The company benefited from its sound business model, global
footprint and very strong position in emerging economies. Linde
also made good progress with its High Performance Organisation
(HPO) concept, a holistic programme for lasting process optimi-
sation and productivity gains.

In the 2010 financial year, Group sales rose to EUR 12.868 bn,
a 14.8 percent increase on the prior year (2009: EUR 11.211bn).
After adjusting for exchange rate effects, this represents a rise
of 7.8 percent. The share of sales from joint ventures, which -
in accordance with accounting rules - are not included in Group
sales, amounted to EUR 358 m in the period under review (2009:
EUR 308 m).

Results of operations

Linde again strengthened its earnings power, and Group oper-
ating profit (EBITDA) rose 22.6 percent to EUR 2.925bn (2009:
EUR 2.385bn). Profit thus grew faster than sales. The Group oper-
ating margin was 22.7 percent in the period under review, up
140 basis points compared with the prior-year figure of 21.3 per-
cent. After adjusting for one-off restructuring costs of EUR 83 m
recognised in 2009, this represents a rise in the Group operating
margin of 70 basis points.

Earnings before tax (EBT) grew 66.9 percent to EUR 1.399bn
(2009: EUR 838 m). Earnings after tax were up 62.9 percent to
EUR 1.064bn (2009: EUR 653 m). The amount attributable to
Linde AG shareholders was EUR 1.005bn (2009: EUR 591 m). This
corresponds to earnings per share of EUR 5.94 (2009: EUR 3.51).
Adjusted to discount the effects of the purchase price allocation
from the BOC acquisition, earnings per share stood at EUR 6.89
(2009: EUR 4.58).

The income statement prepared using the cost of sales method
shows that The Linde Group made a gross profit of EUR 4.521bn
in the 2010 financial year (2009: EUR 3.770bn) after deduct-
ing cost of sales. The gross margin rose to 35.1 percent during
the period under review (2009: 33.6 percent). This increase is
attributable mainly to the increase in gross margin reported by
the Engineering Division relative to 2009. Systematic Group-wide
implementation of the programme for lasting efficiency gains
also had a positive impact.

Functional costs (marketing, selling and administration
expenses, research and development costs) rose in line with the
increased level of business activity during the year under review.
As is the case with Group sales, however, exchange rate effects
must also be taken into consideration here. Adjusted for these
effects, functional costs did rise, but at a slower pace than sales.
Again, the HPO concept had a positive impact.

The net financial result (financial income less financial expenses)
improved significantly from a net loss of EUR 329m in 2009 to a
net loss of EUR 280m in 2010. The 2010 figure includes income
of EUR 29 m arising from the reversal of an impairment on finan-
cial receivables resulting from the disposal of BOC Edwards in
2007.

Due to the marked improvement in profits, the tax expense
rose to EUR 335m (2009: EUR 185m). This corresponds to an
income tax rate of 23.9 percent (2009: 22.1 percent).
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Results of operations

2010 2009
in € million in percent in € million in percent
Sales 12,868 100.0 11,211 100.0
Cost of sales 8,347 64.9 7,441 66.4
Gross profit 4,521 35.1 3,770 33.6
Marketing and selling expenses 1,859 14.4 1,572 14.0
Research and development costs 94 0.7 89 0.8
Administration expenses 1,074 8.3 994 8.9
Other operating income 286 2.2 233 2.1
Other operating expenses 169 1.3 241 2.1
Income from associates and joint ventures (at equity) 68 0.5 60 0.5
Financial result -280 -2.2 -329 -2.9
Earnings before taxes on income (EBT) 1,399 10.9 838 7.5
Taxes on income 335 2.6 185 1.7
Earnings after taxes 1,064 8.3 653 5.8
Attributable to non-controlling interests 59 0.4 62 0.6
Attributable to Linde AG shareholders 1,005 7.8 591 5.3
Sales and operating profit by business segment
2010 2009
Sales Operating Sales Operating
in € million profit profit
Gases Division 10,228 2,766 8,932 2,378
Engineering Division 2,461 271 2,311 210
Other activities including reconciliation 179 =12 -32 -203
Group 12,868 2,925 11,211 2,385
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Gases Division

In 2010, the overall improvement in the general economic cli-
mate fuelled demand for industrial gases worldwide.

As a result, sales from Linde’s Gases Division rose to EUR
10.228 bn, a 14.5 percent increase on the prior year (2009:
EUR 8.932bn). On a comparable basis - i.e. after adjusting for
exchange rate effects, changes in the price of natural gas and
changes to Group structure - this represents a 5.7 percent rise in
sales. The share of sales from joint ventures in the gases busi-
ness, which is not included in division sales, was EUR 348 m
(2009: EUR 298 m).

Over the course of the year, Linde significantly bolstered
profitability within the Gases Division. Operating profit was up
16.3 percent to EUR 2.766 bn (2009: EUR 2.378bn), thus growing
faster than sales. The operating margin rose by 40 basis points
to 27.0 percent (2009: 26.6 percent). This increase in earnings
power is primarily due to HPO measures aimed at increasing effi-
ciency and streamlining processes. Capacity utilisation at Linde’s
production plants was also up on the prior year.

The share of income from associated companies and joint
ventures in the Gases Division reported in operating profit was
EUR 85 m, a rise of 25.0 percent on last year (EUR 68 m). This
increase is primarily attributable to the positive development of
joint ventures in China.

The performance of the individual operating segments in
the Gases Division highlights the regional variations in the pace
of economic recovery. Emerging economies in Asia - China and
India in particular - and South America revealed the strongest
momentum here. In comparison, economic output in more estab-
lished economies such as the US and Western Europe showed
only moderate signs of growth. Nonetheless, demand here also
increased during the reporting period, especially in the energy
and environmental sectors.

Gases Division

in € million 2010 2009
Sales 10,228 8,932
Operating profit 2,766 2,378
Capital expenditure

(excluding financial investments) 1,326 1,029
Number of employees

(at the balance sheet date) 37,603 37,362
Sales from joint ventures 348 298

Operating segment Western Europe

The Western Europe operating segment is the Group’s larg-
est sales market. In the financial year 2010, Linde sales
totalled EUR 4.021 bn, a 6.8 percent rise on last year’s figure
of EUR 3.765bn. On a comparable basis, sales were up 3.3 per-
cent.

Operating profit outpaced sales, up 12.7 percent to
EUR 1.184bn (2009: EUR 1.051bn). The operating margin
was 29.4 percent, up 150 basis points on the prior-year figure
(27.9 percent). Numerous HPO initiatives systematically imple-
mented by the company to increase productivity and standardise
processes helped fuel this positive trend.

With sales of EUR 3.103bn (2009: EUR 2.874 bn), the Conti-
nental and Northern Europe Regional Business Unit (RBU) again
continued to account for the largest part of the gases business
in the Western Europe operating segment. In the UK & Ireland
RBU, sales for the period under review totalled EUR 920 m (2009:
EUR 899 m).

Early signs of an economic upswing evident in Western
Europe during the first half of 2010 became more visible in the
course of the year, resulting in higher capacity utilisation at exist-
ing facilities in the Tonnage (on-site) business. The commence-
ment of operations at a number of new facilities also had a pos-
itive impact on business. In the UK, for example, Linde brought
a major air separation plant on stream during the period under
review. The new plant supplies Linde’s long-standing customer
Tata Steel with oxygen at the steel hub of Scunthorpe. The facil-
ity has a production capacity of 1,600 tonnes per day. Tata also
commissioned Linde to modernise an existing air separation plant
at the same site.

Another Linde air separation plant went on stream in the
Austrian city of Linz. This facility supplies another steel player,
Voestalpine. This is the tenth plant that Linde has built in Linz.

In Germany, Linde is set to expand the gas supply infrastruc-
ture for steel producer ThyssenKrupp Steel Europe and will be
delivering a further major air separation plant in Duisburg as part
of this project. The contract was signed in May 2010. This is the
eleventh plant of its kind that Linde will have built for Thyssen-
Krupp at Duisburg. Linde is investing around EUR 75m in the new
plant and in modernisation work on existing production facili-
ties.

Last year, Linde successfully gained a foothold in the high-
growth liquefied natural gas (LNG, see glossary) business in Swe-
den when the country’s first LNG terminal commenced opera-
tions. Linde partnered with other players to build the terminal
and now sources LNG from the operator, Nynashamn Gastermi-
nal AB, to distribute through its own channels. Hereby Linde suc-
ceeded its entry into a fast growing segment.
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Gases Division: Sales and operating profit by operating segment

2010 2009
Sales Operating Margin Sales Operating Margin
in € million profit in percent profit in percent
Western Europe 4,021 1,184 29.4 3,765 1,051 27.9
Americas 2,279 499 21.9 1,981 429 21.7
Asia & Eastern Europe 2,239 667 29.8 1,836 557 30.3
South Pacific & Africa 1,784 416 233 1,418 341 24.0

Consolidation -95 -

— ,68 - -

Across the entire Western Europe operating segment, Linde con-
tinued its activities to ensure security of supply for its custom-
ers and prepare for future growth. During the year under review,
new production facilities went on stream in Nantes (France),
Basel (Switzerland) and Tunis (Tunisia). In Gendorf (Germany)
and Rouen (France), new production facilities commenced oper-
ations to meet rising demand for carbon dioxide (C0,), particu-
larly from the food and beverage sector. In addition, Linde con-
tinues to improve its sales structures in the cylinder business.
The Group set up a new central cylinder filling plant for the Baltic
region in Riga (Latvia), and a new site in Hamburg (Germany) is
under construction.

Analysis of sales by operating segment

South Pacific & Asia Western Europe
17.3% (2009:15.8 %) 38.9% (2009: 41.8 %)

Asia & Eastern Europe “ Americas

21.7% (2009: 20.4 %) 22.1% (2009: 22.0 %)

Operating segment Americas

In the 2010 financial year, sales in the Americas operating seg-
ment grew 15.0 percent to EUR 2.279bn (2009: EUR 1.981bn).
This corresponds to an 8.6 percent increase on a comparable
basis. Operating profit also outperformed sales in this region, ris-
ing 16.3 percent to EUR 499 m (2009: EUR 429 m). The operating
margin was therefore 21.9 percent (2009: 21.7 percent). This fig-
ure also reflects the positive impact of various successful mea-
sures aimed at lasting cost optimisation and efficiency gains.

A direct comparison between sales in the two major regions
in the Americas operating segment shows a stronger upward
trend in the South America RBU, as expected. Here, sales rose
19.2 percent to EUR 647 m (2009: EUR 543 m). In North Amer-
ica, Linde recorded sales of EUR 1.635bn (2009: EUR 1.440bn),
a plus of 13.5 percent.

The general improvement in the economic situation in North
America resulted in increased demand for industrial gases over-
all. The food and drinks segment provided particularly strong
impetus here.

Similarly, the on-site business reported stronger performance
in the 2010 financial year, with average plant capacity utilisation
up on the figures posted for 2009. Linde also benefited from new
facilities that went on stream during the period under review,
including a plant in Lemont, Illinois, that produces hydrogen for
desulphurising fuel. In addition, Linde started supplying Shell
with hydrogen at the Deer Park refinery complex in Texas.

The company also reached a significant production milestone
in the liquefied gases business. In August 2010, Linde started
cleaning and liquefying carbon dioxide (C0O,) at a new plant in
Fulton, New York. The (€O, is a by-product of ethanol produc-
tion and is sourced from biofuel manufacturer Sunoco. This new
facility means that Linde now has the largest €O, capacity in the
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region, enabling the company to meet rising demand from lique-
fied gas customers in the food and chemical industries in New
York, New Jersey and Pennsylvania as well as in the New Eng-
land region.

In 2010, Linde successfully extended its hydrogen fuelling
technologies business in the North American market and thus
further advanced the use of hydrogen as an environmentally
sound fuel. At BMW’s Spartanburg production site in South Caro-
lina, for example, Linde set up a zero-emissions hydrogen fuel-
ling system to supply 85 forklift trucks. The hydrogen is lique-
fied at a Linde plant using electricity generated from renewable
sources. This is the first time that the car manufacturer has used
hydrogen as an energy carrier for internal logistics.

Linde was also commissioned by regional bus operator AC
Transit to install two hydrogen fuelling stations for fuel-cell buses
and cars at its Emeryville depot in California, the largest fuel-cell
bus site in the US. The stations include the latest compression
and fuelling technologies. Linde also supplies the liquid hydro-
gen, which is stored on site. Linde will also build a station at the
customer’s Oakland depot in California.

In electronics, Linde is continuing with the installation of a
large on-site ultra-pure nitrogen plant in North America for the
world’s largest semiconductor manufacturer.

The economy in South America experienced dynamic growth
during the period under review. The on-site and liquefied gases
business in particular benefited from this upward trend in Brazil,
Chile and Argentina. The company was also able to continue to
consolidate its position in the fast-growing Healthcare market.

In April 2010, Linde started operations at its new air separa-
tion plant in the Brazilian industrial complex Camacari. The Cama-
cari industrial complex is the largest integrated industrial cluster
in the southern hemisphere. Over ninety companies from a wide
range of industries are represented here. The new plant has a
production capacity of 300 tonnes per day. Although it mainly
supplies chemical and petrochemical companies located at the
site with industrial gases, the Camacari plant also supplies med-
ical oxygen to hospitals in the Bahia region and the north-east
of Brazil.

A further Linde air separation plant went on stream in Brazil
in September 2010. Located in Resende, the plant provides the
Votorantim Steel Group - one of the country’s largest companies -
with industrial gases.

In the Healthcare business, the company extended its pre-
viously Europe-focused ENTONOX®/LIVOPAN® marketing cam-
paign to Brazil. This analgesic/sedative gas mixture was success-
fully launched there during the period under review. Since 2009,
Linde has been offering support and advice to sufferers of sleep
apnoea under its Leading Independent Sleep Aide (LISA™) pro-
gramme across the entire South American continent. This breath-
ing disorder occurs during sleep and causes repeated interrup-
tions to breathing.

During the period under review, the Brazilian anti-trust author-
ity CADE imposed fines on a number of gases companies, citing
alleged breaches of anti-trust law during the years 1998 to 2004.
Linde’s Brazilian subsidiary is one of these companies. From the
current standpoint, Linde assumes that this decision will not
stand up to judicial review.

Operating segment Asia & Eastern Europe

Dynamic economic trends in Asia plus the economic turnaround
in Eastern Europe fuelled strong growth rates in sales and oper-
ating profit in Linde’s Asia & Eastern Europe operating segment.
The company also benefited from its leading position in these
markets.

During the period under review, sales rose 21.9 percent to
EUR 2.239bn (2009: EUR 1.836bn). Stringent execution of the
company’s HPO concept pushed up operating profit, which
increased 19.7 percent to EUR 667 m (2009: EUR 557 m). At
29.8 percent (2009: 30.3 percent), the operating margin
remained at a very high level. Adjusted for the dilution effect
resulting from the obligation to pass through higher natural gas
prices, this figure remained at the prior-year level.

In the Greater China RBU, Linde increased sales by 36.8 per-
cent to EUR 576 m (2009: EUR 421 m), making this region the
strongest growth driver in the Asia & Eastern Europe operating
segment. Joint venture activities also developed positively in the
Greater China RBU, with the Group's share of sales from its inter-
ests in joint ventures, which is not included in Group sales, rising
20.9 percentin 2010 to EUR 197 m (2009: EUR 163 m).

Linde also reported an upswing in business in the South and
East Asia RBU, with sales up 26.1 percent to EUR 861m (2009:
EUR 683 m). The Group achieved sales of EUR 803 m in the East-
ern Europe & Middle East RBU, a rise of 9.3 percent compared
with the prior year (EUR 735m).

In the Greater China region, Linde capitalised on upbeat
economic developments to continue to strengthen its leading
position. Here the Group won a number of new contracts and
invested in strategic projects.

In the northern Chinese province of Shanxi, for example, Linde
is building two major new air separation plants on site for Tai-
yuan Iron & Steel Company Limited (TISCO). The contract, signed
in autumn 2010, has a total investment value of EUR 100 m. The
project will be managed by BOC-TISCO Gases, the 50/50 gases
joint venture set up by Linde and TISCO.
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The 2010 financial year also saw Linde secure two new con-
tracts to supply Yangtze Petrochemical Company Limited (YPC)
and Dynamic Chemical Company Limited at the Nanjing chemical
industrial park in the province of Jiangsu. To secure future sup-
plies, Linde will invest around EUR 24 m in the expansion of its
existing gases infrastructure here.

Linde will also be investing EUR 15m in the expansion of its
gases supply infrastructure for GCL-Poly Energy Holdings, China’s
leading manufacturer of polysilicon. The new agreement, signed
by both partners during the period under review, includes the
construction of new production and supply facilities for high-
purity hydrogen in the Xuzhou industrial park. Linde had already
brought two steam reformers (see glossary) on stream in 2009
to supply GCL with hydrogen via pipeline. The new project brings
Linde’s total investment in its gases supply infrastructure for GCL
at the Xuzhou site to around EUR 30 m.

On the electronic gases front, Linde won China’s two larg-
est government-supported TFT labs. Linde concluded agreements
with Beijing BOE Display Technology and China Star Optoelec-
tronics Technology (CSOT) for the supply of ultra-pure liquefied
gases such as nitrogen, oxygen, hydrogen and argon. Linde’s
investment under the contract with BOE, one of China’s largest
LCD screen manufacturers, entails an investment of EUR 23 m. In
Shenzhen, Guangdong province, the CSOT project will see Linde
invest around EUR 17 m.

World-leading semiconductor manufacturer Taiwan Semicon-
ductor Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (TSMC) awarded Linde two major
gas supply agreements for its new and expansion projects in Tai-
wan. Linde will thus be investing around EUR 29m in expanding
its gases infrastructure in the area.

The South and East Asia region also showed healthy signs of
recovery during the period under review, with markets in India,
Thailand and Singapore fuelling a sharp rise in economic output,
particularly in the first half of 2010.

In August 2010, Linde went on stream with a 220 tonnes per
day (tpd) liquefied gas facility at the Indian site of Selaqui, which
supplies customers in the north of India. Linde plans to expand
its operations in western India by setting up a new 330 tpd air
separation unit in Taloja. This will replace an existing smaller
facility. The expansion will enable the company to meet increas-
ing demand in one of India’s fastest growing regions.

In Malaysia, Linde is investing around EUR 15m in the con-
struction of 3 new 200 tpd €O, plant in Terengganu. The facility
is scheduled to start production at the end of 2011. The invest-
ment consolidates the Group’s leading position in the Malaysian
market for ultra-pure CO,. In September 2010, Linde commenced
operations at a major air separation plant in Pasir Gudang, Johor.
The gases produced at this plant will be used to supply custom-
ers in South Malaysia as well as in Singapore.

Linde has also expanded its production capacity in Pakistan.
In spring 2010, the Group invested around EUR 17m to build a

new 150 tpd air separation plant in Lahore. The facility is sched-
uled to go on stream during the first quarter of 2012 and will
supply customers in the north of the country with oxygen, nitro-
gen and argon.

In autumn 2010, Linde acquired the company Ceylon Oxygen
Limited in a move to further expand its strong position in the
fast-growing South and East Asia market. The company employs
106 people and is Sri Lanka's leading manufacturer of medical
and industrial gases. Ceylon Oxygen is the only gases company in
the country that operates its own air separation plant.

In Eastern Europe, markets initially got off to a slow start in
the first quarter of 2010 but picked up as the year progressed.
Russia and the Czech Republic in particular showed signs of eco-
nomic recovery. The Middle East region proved comparatively
robust throughout the economic crisis due to investments in the
petrochemical industry.

During the period under review, Linde succeeded in establish-
ing a foothold in the emerging Kazakhstan market. The company
is set to build a large, cutting-edge air separation plant for the
world’s leading steel company, ArcelorMittal, at its Temirtau site.
The contract for this project was signed in May 2010. The on-site
facility will be the first major plant of its kind in Kazakhstan and
will have a capacity of 2,000 tpd. It is scheduled to go on stream
in mid-2012 and represents an investment of around EUR 95 m.

Last summer, Linde started production at Europe’s largest
stand-alone air separation plant. Located in south-west Poland
at Biskupice Pogdrne, the facility produces up to 600 tonnes of
liquefied nitrogen, oxygen and argon per day. Its proximity to the
Czech Republic and Germany makes it an ideal location to supply
Central European markets with liquefied gases.
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Operating segment South Pacific & Africa

In the South Pacific & Africa operating segment, Linde sales in the
2010 financial year increased 25.8 percent to EUR 1.784bn (2009:
EUR 1.418bn). This substantial increase is almost entirely due to
positive exchange rate effects for the Australian dollar and the
South African rand. On a comparable basis, sales only increased
slightly by 2.5 percent compared with the prior-year period.

Operating profit was also boosted by exchange rate effects and
increased by 22.0 percent to EUR 416 m (2009: EUR 341 m), result-
ing in an operating margin of 23.3 percent (2009: 24.0 percent).

With sales totalling EUR 1.256bn (2009: EUR 980 m), the
South Pacific RBU again accounts for the lion's share of business
in this segment. The Africa RBU accounted for EUR 528 m of the
segment’s sales (2009: EUR 438 m).

The economy in the South Pacific region, which proved com-
paratively robust throughout the crisis in 2009, remained on a
stable growth path in 2010.

Linde is the region’s leading gases supplier and contin-
ued to strengthen its business base here over the last year. In
March 2010, Linde started operations at a helium plant in Dar-
win (Northern Territory) - the first plant of its kind in Australia.
With a capacity of 4.2 million cubic metres of helium per year,
the facility enables the company to meet demand in Australia
and ensures sufficient capacity for exports to New Zealand and
Asian markets.

A new steam reformer for producing hydrogen also went on
stream at Altona in the Australian state of Victoria. The Group’s
investment will secure supplies to meet rising demand in the
region.

In May 2010, Linde agreed to invest around EUR 45m in the
expansion of its liquefied natural gas (LNG) capacity in Victo-
ria. The resulting rise in production will also enable the Group to
supply a network of LNG fuelling stations scheduled to be set up
along the east coast of Australia.

The Group also agreed to invest around EUR 15m in an air
separation unit in Karratha, North West Australia, to supply the
regional market with industrial gases.

South Africa is the most important sales market in the Africa
RBU. Here, the high rand had a dampening effect on interna-
tional trade and thus local industrial production. Furthermore, a
substantial hike in energy prices compared with the prior year led
to increased cost pressure. Linde has therefore streamlined and
modernised its production facilities and aligned its product offer-
ing with reduced demand. Work on converting the gases produc-
tion centre in Germiston, for example, was almost completed in
the period under review. The Group also started production at its
new speciality gases facility. The gases from this plant will also
be used to supply African markets outside of South Africa.

Linde operates in a further seventeen African countries. In the
2010 financial year, business here was up on the prior year,
enabling the company to consolidate its position as the leading
gases provider in Sub-Saharan Africa.

Product segments

Performance in the individual product segments reflects the
overall positive trends in the Gases Division throughout 2010.
Linde achieved the highest rate of sales growth in its on-site
business (supplying gases on site to major customers). On a
comparable basis - i.e. after adjusting for exchange rate effects,
changes in the price of natural gas and changes to Group struc-
ture - sales here increased by 9.6 percent to EUR 2.451bn (2009:
EUR 2.237bn). Linde benefited from the continued improvement
in existing capacity utilisation as well as from new plants com-
ing on stream.

In the liquefied gases business, sales totalled EUR 2.487 bn.
On a comparable basis, this was a 6.6 percent increase on the
prior-year figure (2009: EUR 2.333bn).

In the cylinder gases business, Linde increased sales on
a comparable basis by 3.4 percent to EUR 4.160bn (2009:
EUR 4.023 bn). After a slow start, this area continued to pick up
during the remainder of the period under review.

The Healthcare business covers Linde’s medical gases, ser-
vices, devices and care operations. Here, the Group contin-
ued on its steady growth path, with sales rising 4.2 percent to
EUR 1.130bn (2009: EUR 1.084 bn). Healthcare is a continuing
global megatrend. Demographic shifts, improved diagnostic and
therapy options - particularly for chronic ailments - and better
patient access to these new forms of care are the main drivers in
this fast-growing market.

Linde’s Healthcare business covers Hospital Care and Home-
care. Hospital Care supplies hospitals with medical gases, ser-
vices and related equipment, while Homecare concentrates on
medical gases, services and devices for patients in settings other
than hospitals.
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Sales in the Hospital Care division rose by 4.7 percent to
EUR 847m (2009: EUR 809 m), allowing Linde to strengthen its
position in key markets such as Asia and South America. The
Group also reported several successes in Europe during the
period under review. In Norway, for example, Linde has won ten-
ders to supply state-run hospitals in five out of six regions.

In the Homecare division, sales were up 2.9 percent to
EUR 283 m (2009: EUR 275m). A substantial share of sales was
generated by the REMEO® care programme for chronic ventilated
patients. Linde continued to expand its offering here throughout
the financial year, particularly in the major Homecare markets of
Europe and the Americas. New REMEO® ventilation centres were
opened in the US, Colombia and Germany.

Gases Division: Sales by product area

Change
in € million 2010 20091 in percent
Liquefied gases 2,487 2,333 6.6
Cylinder gases 4,160 4,023 3.4
On-site 2,451 2,237 9.6
Healthcare 1,130 1,084 4.2
Total 10,228 9,677 5.7

1 Adjusted for exchange rate effects, changes in Group structure and
changes in the price of natural gas.
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Engineering Division

The international large-scale engineering business is a late-cycle
sector. Here, the market climate stabilised in the course of 2010.
Linde saw a marked rise in investment activity in smaller and
medium-size projects across all four main lines of business (olefin
plants, natural gas plants, air separation plants, and hydrogen
and synthesis gas plants).

The Engineering Division reported sales of EUR 2.461bn in
2010, thus exceeding the prior-year figure (2009: EUR 2.311bn)
by 6.5 percent.

The successful execution of a number of individual proj-
ects meant that operating profit grew faster than sales, rising
29.0 percent to EUR 271m (2009: EUR 210 m). At 11.0 percent
(2009: 9.1 percent), the operating margin again significantly

New orders were concentrated in Europe and the Asia/Pacific
region, both accounting for around 27 percent respectively of
contract wins. Some 20 percent of new business was attribut-
able to the Middle East.

Almost 60 percent of all contracts awarded during the period
under review were for olefin and air separation plants. The
remaining 40 percent were evenly divided across the other lines
of business.

Linde continues to report a high order backlog. At 31 Decem-
ber 2010, this figure was EUR 3.965bn (2009: 4.215bn).

Engineering Division

exceeded the target figure of 8 percent. in € million 2010 2009
Order intake was EUR 2.159bn at the end of the year (2009:  Sales 2,461 2,311
EUR 2.458bn). When comparing these figures, it should be  rder intake 2,159 2,458
notgd thaF order intake ?n 2009 was largely shaped by several order backlog 3,965 4215
major projects. One major contract for an olefin plant in Abu : :
) ) . Operating profit 271 210
Dhabi (United Arab Emirates), for example, was alone worth : _
; . Capital expenditure
USD 1.075bn. During the year under review, however, new P
o (excluding financial investments) 23 32
orders were spread over a broader basis with numerous contracts
for smaller and medium-size plants Number of employees
P ' (at the balance sheet date) 5,811 5,716
By region
Sales Order intake
in € million 2010 2009 2010 2009
Europe 678 678 589 784
North America 166 248 286 70
South America 77 103 50 160
Asia/Pacific 562 558 587 361
Middle East 891 682 446 916
Africa 87 42 201 167
By plant type
Sales Order intake
in € million 2010 2009 2010 2009
Olefin plants 783 465 616 1,457
Natural gas plants 172 272 360 163
Hydrogen and synthesis gas plants 284 429 350 261
Air separation plants 999 949 611 359
Other 223 196 222 218
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Olefin plants

The petrochemical industry recovered swiftly from the 2008,/2009
global economic downturn. Last year’s growth rates were almost
back to pre-crisis levels. However, the market still has excess
capacity due to the large number of major projects undertaken
before the economic and financial crisis hit.

In the 2010 financial year, Linde started constructing a large
polypropylene plant for plastics manufacturer Tobolsk-Polymer
in Western Siberia. Worth around EUR 450 m, this project is cur-
rently one of the key investments in Russia’s petrochemical
industry.

In 2010, Linde also successfully put an ethane cracker (see
glossary) on stream in Ruwais, Abu Dhabi (United Arab Emirates).
With a record-breaking capacity of 1,490 kilotonnes of ethyl-
ene per year, it is the world’s largest plant of this type. The
plant is operated by Borouge, a joint venture between Abu
Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC) and Borealis. This is the
second project of this kind that Linde has completed for Bor-
ouge. Work is already underway on Borouge 3, a further eth-
ane cracker at the Ruwais site.

Sasol Chemical Industries Ltd. awarded Linde Engineering an
engineering, procurement and construction (EPC) contract for the
installation of an ethylene recovery unit to be integrated into the
Sasolburg petrochemical complex (South Africa). The project is
worth EUR 135m and handover is scheduled for April 2013.

Order intake by region

Africa
9.3% (2009: 6.8 %)

Europe
27.3% (2009: 31.9 %)

o

Middle East
20.7 % (2009: 37.3 %)

North America
~13.2% (2009: 2.8 %)

Asia/Pacific
27.2% (2009: 14.7 %)

South America
2.3% (2009: 6.5 %)

Linde and Samsung Engineering Co. (South Korea) have won a
contract from Tasnee Sahara Olefins Co. (TSOC) and Dow Chemi-
cal to plan, procure and construct the first part of a large acrylic
acid complex to be built at Al Jubail in Saudi Arabia. The complex
is scheduled to go on stream in the second quarter of 2013. Linde
and Samsung already have a proven track record of collaboration
in Saudi Arabia. The companies successfully teamed up to work
on an earlier ethylene project for the same client.

Natural gas plants

Following the sharp downturn in 2009, demand for crude oil and
natural gas increased slightly during the period under review.
Supply, however, still exceeded demand in international mar-
kets. As a result, the oil and gas industry was cautious when it
came to investing in new projects and expanding existing devel-
opments. China and Australia were notable exceptions here, with
investment in liquefied natural gas (LNG) plants strong in both
regions.

Order intake by plant type

Other
10.3 % (2009: 8.9 %)

Olefin plants
28.5% (2009: 59.3 %)

N

Air separation plants
28.3% (2009: 14.6 %)

Hydrogen and
synthesis gas plants
16.2% (2009:10.6 %)

Natural gas plants
16.7 % (2009: 6.6 %)

At the start of the 2010 financial year, Linde received a con-
tract from Chinese gas supplier Guanghui to build a mid-size LNG
plant. The scope of services includes the liquefaction process
licence, basic engineering for the entire plant, delivery of a coil-
wound heat exchanger plus procurement of the plant’s compres-
sors and drives. A pioneer in the move to build an LNG supply
chain in China, Guanghui is teaming up with Linde for the second
time. The LNG produced at the plant will be used as an environ-
mentally friendly fuel for trucks.

Linde’s technological expertise in the field of natural gas
liquefaction is also in demand in Australia. Here, the Group is
supplying key components for two LNG plants as part of the
Queensland Curtis LNG project. The supply contract was signed
mid-2010. Queensland Curtis LNG is a showcase project of QGC,
a subsidiary of British Gas. The project aims to develop coal-bed
gas reserves in the Australian state of Queensland for the inter-
national market. It is one of the largest infrastructure projects in
Australia.

During Q3 2010, Linde started operations at an LNG plant in
the Norwegian region of Stavanger for its customer Skangass AS.
At the heart of the plant s a coil-wound heat exchanger made for
the first time entirely from stainless steel. This technical highlight
also positions Linde strongly for the promising market emerging
for floating LNG plants. Here, the high levels of mechanical stress
make stainless steel heat exchangers the preferred choice.
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Air separation plants

Business in the air separation plant sector picked up in 2010 fol-
lowing a sharp drop in investment in 2009 due to the economic
and financial crisis. Linde’s Engineering Division also benefited
from new on-site projects channelled through the Group’s Gases
Division.

The Engineering Division has been awarded various major
international projects by the Gases Division, including plants for
ThyssenKrupp in Germany, ArcelorMittal in Kazakhstan and TISCO
in China (see Gases Division section).

In 2010, the Group also started work on an air separation
plant in Vorsino near Moscow in Russia. This plant will secure
a long-term supply of industrial gases for the steel corporation
KNPEMZ from 2011 onwards.

Linde also secured a contract to supply the Yankuang Coal
Company with two air separation plants at its Erdos site (Inner
Mongolia). The Group is also constructing an air separation plant
for Baosteel Metal Co. Ltd in Wujing.

2010 was a successful year for smaller, standardised plants
from Linde. Orders were particularly strong from the US, Taiwan
and China.

At the end of 2010, Linde completed assembly of the world’s
largest complex of air separation plants (Pearl GTL) in Qatar (Per-
sian Gulf). The facility is set to go on stream in 2011. The con-
tract, which Linde secured in 2006, covered the delivery of eight
large, identical air separation plants.

Sales by region

Africa
3.5% (2009: 1.8%)

Europe
27.5% (2009: 29.3 %)

Middle East
36.3% (2009: 29.6 %)

North America

./ 6.7% (2009:10.7 %)

N\ South America

3.1% (2009: 4.5 %)

Asia/Pacific
22.9% (2009: 24.1 %)

In Abu Dhabi, Linde is currently constructing the United Arab
Emirate’s largest air separation cluster through a joint venture
with the Abu Dhabi National 0il Company (ADNOC). The new
plants will be handed over at the start of 2012, producing large
amounts of nitrogen to optimise the extraction of natural gas.

Hydrogen and synthesis gas plants

The market for hydrogen and synthesis gas plants progressed
at a moderate pace in the 2010 financial year. Investors proved
more cautious than before the financial and economic crisis,
especially with regard to larger projects. However, demand for
smaller hydrogen plants with capacities of around 300 normal
cubic metres per hour was up. Linde developed a standardised
offer (HYDROPRIME™) for this growing segment during the
period under review and will be launching it in the first quar-
ter of 2011.

To strengthen further its competitive position in the hydro-
gen sector, Linde launched a dedicated optimisation programme
under the umbrella of its HPO framework. The measures here
focus primarily on reducing plant investment and operating costs.
Linde is currently rolling out this programme across the Group.

Sales by plant type

Other
9.1% (2009: 8.5 %)

Olefin plants
31.8% (2009: 201%)

Air separation plants
40.6 % (2009: 41.0 %)

v ..

Hydrogen and

synthesis gas plants Natural gas plants

11.5% (2009: 18.6 %) 7.0% (2009:11.8 %)

The production of synthetic natural gas (SNG) is becom-
ing increasingly important, particularly in coal-rich regions. In
autumn 2010, Linde secured an important contract here from
South Korea. Together with the Danish company Haldor Top-
soe, Linde will be supplying the technology for syngas treatment
and the methanation unit for an SNG plant in Gwangyang. The
plant will produce synthetic natural gas from coal and/or petro-
leum coke and was awarded by POSCO, one of the world’s lead-
ing steelmakers.
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Other types of plant

The market for biotechnology plants reveals significant growth
potential. During the period under review, Linde strengthened
its foothold in this market by starting work on the Chemical Bio-
technological Process (CBP) Centre in Leuna, Germany. The Group
was contracted to plan, supply and construct the entire techni-
cal complex from the Fraunhofer-Gesellschaft in December 2009.
This innovation hub will focus on transferring industrial biotech-
nology processes from the research to the pilot phase, from
where they can move to industrial-scale commercialisation.

In the pharmaceutical biotechnology sector, Linde received
pre-feed and feed contracts for plants dedicated to the pro-
duction of active pharmaceutical ingredients and the manu-
facture of ready-to-use pharmaceutical products. The Group
also received follow-up engineering contracts from the United
Arab Emirates and Switzerland for projects that are already
underway.
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Other activities

The Other Activities segment comprises Gist (Linde’s logistics ser-
vices) and Group member Cleaning Enterprises (environmentally
friendly dry cleaning under the brand name Fred Butler®).

Gist specialises in the distribution of chilled and frozen food
and drink products and operates in a stable market. Gist sales
for the 2010 financial year totalled EUR 547 m, an 18.7 percent
increase on the prior-year figure of EUR 461 m. The Group’s part-
nership with retail chain Marks & Spencer (M&S) was one of the
main drivers of this growth. In March 2009, Gist signed a ten-
year contract with M&S to manage its food supply chain in the
UK and the Republic of Ireland. The agreement also covers the
supply of frozen goods and bread products to Marks & Spencer
stores. Gist also benefited from the acquisition of storage spe-
cialists G&S International, which was completed in the 2010
financial year. The additional capacity will enable Gist to further
expand its logistics infrastructure.

(leaning Enterprises, a member of The Linde Group, achieved
sales of EUR 2m during the period under review (2009: EUR 4 m).
The company is currently realigning its business model.
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Net assets and financial position

As the recovery took hold in 2010, Linde supported the expan-
sion of its business through targeted capital expenditure. The
Group's focus on safeguarding its liquidity and continuing to
repay financial debt remained.

Total assets increased in 2010 by EUR 2.507 bn to EUR 26.888 bn.
This increase was mainly due to exchange rate effects on the
translation of the local financial statements of Linde Group sub-
sidiaries into the reporting currency, the Euro. Capital expendi-
ture in the Gases Division also contributed to the rise in total
assets.

Goodwill rose, primarily as a result of exchange rate effects,
by a total of EUR 502m to EUR 7.799bn. Goodwill of EUR 15m
arose on acquisitions made during the 2010 financial year. The
principal acquisition was the purchase of the majority interest in
the industrial gases company, Ceylon Oxygen Limited, Sri Lanka.
Other intangible assets, which include in particular customer
relationships arising from the BOC acquisition, rose by EUR 188 m.
This increase was mainly due to exchange rate effects less amor-
tisation. Receivables from financial services, which almost exclu-
sively relate to our long-term gas supply contracts which are
classified as leases in accordance with IFRIC 4, fell by EUR 237 m
to EUR 392 m. The main reason for this decrease was the reclas-
sification of almost all ECOVAR gas supply contracts as tangi-
ble assets. These contracts had previously been accounted for
as embedded finance leases. This reclassification in the balance
sheet by Linde took place as a result of the development of our
ECOVAR business model.

Current assets rose by EUR 630m from EUR 3.998bn to
EUR 4.628bn. Here, the increase in trade receivables of EUR 248 m
from EUR 1.607 bn to EUR 1.855bn should be taken into consider-
ation. This was due not only to exchange rate effects, but also to
higher business volumes. Another major reason for the increase
in current assets was the increase in cash and cash equivalents
of EUR 328 m to EUR 1.159bn.

0n the equity and liabilities side, the increase in total equity
and liabilities was due mainly to the increase in equity.

Equity grew from EUR 9.187bn to EUR 11.362bn. The equity
ratio was 42 percent (2009: 38 percent). The main factors which
had a positive impact on equity were exchange rate move-
ments of EUR 1.390 bn, earnings after tax of EUR 1.064 bn and
actuarial gains on the remeasurement of pension provisions of
EUR 156 m.

The net pension obligation fell in 2010 from EUR 887 m to
EUR 552m. The positive market trends for the plan assets and
the change in the actuarial assumptions for the measurement of
the pension provisions were significant contributory factors in
the decrease. Another factor which reduced the net pension obli-
gation was the contributions to plan assets made by The Linde
Group of EUR 152m (2009: EUR 127 m). Of these contributions,
around EUR 78 m (2009: EUR 68 m) related to the special pay-
ments made to the UK pension fund which were agreed in the

course of the BOC acquisition. The fall in interest rates in the 2010
financial year had the opposite effect on the measurement of the
pension provisions, increasing the net pension obligation.

Linde was able to reduce its net financial debt in the
2010 financial year by EUR 622m to EUR 5.497bn (2009:
EUR 6.119bn). This was mainly due to the free cash flow before
financing activities, which rose by 17.8 percent to EUR 1.357bn
(2009: EUR 1.152bn). In addition, Linde continued to work dur-
ing the financial year at optimising its liquidity position and
financial debt. In May 2010, the Group agreed a EUR 2.5bn
syndicated credit line. This credit line replaces the syndicated
credit to finance the BOC acquisition in 2006 and the forward
start facility agreed in 2009. Linde’s maturity profile is geared
for the long term. Of the financial debt of EUR 6.673 bn (2009:
EUR 6.967bn), EUR 459 m (2009: EUR 381m) is disclosed as cur-
rentand EUR 6.214bn (2009: EUR 6.586 bn) as non-current finan-
cial debt. Financial debt repayable within one year is matched by
cash and cash equivalents of EUR 1.159bn and a EUR 2.5bn syn-
dicated credit facility available until 2015. At 31 December 2010,
available liquidity was EUR 3.200bn (2009: EUR 2.450bn).

The Group’s gearing (the ratio of net debt to equity) was
48 percent at 31 December 2010, due to the increase in share
capital and the decrease in net financial debt (2009: 67 percent).
The dynamic indebtedness factor (net financial debt to operating
profit) reduced from 2.6 in 2009 to 1.9 in 2010.



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT - Net assets and financial position

Balance sheet items as a percentage of total assets of EUR 26.888bn (2009: EUR 24.381bn)

Assets in percent Equities and liabilities in percent

Tangible assets Equities 42 38

Other non-current assets

5
Provisions for pensions 3 o
Other provisions 7
. . 29
Financial debt 25
Other liabilitries 23
20
Inventories 4 4
Cash and cash equivalents 4 3
Other current assets 9 9

2010 2009 2010 2009
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Cash flow statement

Linde increased its cash flow from operating activities in the
2010 financial year to EUR 2.422bn (2009: EUR 2.142bn), con-
tinuing the positive trends seen in prior quarters. The 13.1 per-
cent rise is mainly due to the improvement in Group operating
profit. An improvement in working capital, especially in the
fourth quarter of 2010, also had a positive impact on cash flow
from operating activities.

Net cash outflow from investing activities in 2010 was
EUR 1.065bn (2009: EUR 990 m). This change was mainly due to
increased capital expenditure.

The cash outflow for investing activities for 2010 was
EUR 1.284bn (2009: EUR 1.278bn), of which EUR 68 m relates to
payments for financial assets and consolidated companies (2009:
EUR 86m). The largest transaction here was the acquisition of
the majority interest in Ceylon Oxygen Limited in Sri Lanka.

As a result of the significant increase in cash inflow from oper-
ating activities, the net cash inflow (free cash flow before financ-
ing activities) in the 2010 financial year rose to EUR 1.357bn
(2009: EUR 1.152bn).

Cash flow statement (summary)

in € million 2010 2009
Cash flow from operating activities 2,422 2,142
Cash outflows for investments -1,284 -1,278
Cash inflows from the disposal of assets 219 288
Cash flow from investing activities -1,065 -990
Free cash flow before financing 1,357 1,152
Dividend payments to Linde AG share-

holders and non-controlling interests -349 -343
Net interest payments -298 -301
Proceeds of loans

and capital market debt 588 1,437
Cash outflows for the repayment

of loans and capital market debt -1,088 -2,138
Other changes 69 14
Change in cash and cash equivalents 279 -179

In the 2010 financial year, Linde paid dividends of EUR 349 m
(2009: EUR 343 m). The figure for net interest payments of
EUR 298 m was similar to the prior-year figure of EUR 301 m. It
should be noted here that the reduction in the financial debt
took place mainly in the fourth quarter of 2010 and was there-
fore not fully reflected in the net interest payments for the full
year.

Receipts and payments relating to loans and capital mar-
ket debt resulted in a net cash outflow of EUR 500 m (2009:
EUR 701 m). The change in cash and cash equivalents was there-
fore an increase of EUR 279 m (2009: a reduction of EUR 179 m).
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Summary of the 2010 financial year

The global economy showed clear signs of recovery in 2010,
following the deepest recession in more than six decades.
This upturn was mainly driven by dynamic growth in emerging
Asian economies, China in particular. More developed markets
in Europe and the US also benefited from this trend, for example
through increased exports to emerging economies.

Linde capitalised on this favourable economic climate, achiev-
ing significant growth in both Group sales and Group operating
profit. The company even exceeded its previous all-time high
of 2008, with Group sales rising 14.8 percent to EUR 12.868bn
(2009: EUR 11.211bn). In the 2008 financial year, Linde achieved
Group sales of EUR 12.663bn. The Group increased its profit-
ability in 2010, with Group operating profit up 22.6 percent to
EUR 2.925bn (2009: EUR 2.385bn).

By comparison, Group operating profit in 2008, a record-
breaking year, was EUR 2.555bn. The Group operating margin
in the 2010 financial year rose 140 basis points to 22.7 percent
(2009: 21.3 percent).

Linde has also seen a significant improvement in other key
performance indicators in 2010 compared with 2009. Return on
capital employed (ROCE) was 12.5 percent (2009: 10.4 percent),
while adjusted earnings per share increased by 50.4 percent
to EUR 6.89 (2009: EUR 4.58). Cash flow from operating activ-
ities rose 13.1 percent to EUR 2.422bn (2009: EUR 2.142bn).
Linde was also able to reduce net financial debt by EUR 622 m to
EUR 5.497bn (2009: EUR 6.119bn).

This all-round positive performance is confirmation of the
Group’s business model and wide market reach. Linde is a global
player and extremely well-positioned, especially in the key Asian
and South American markets that provided much of the momen-
tum behind last year’s global economic upswing. The fact that
profit grew faster than sales shows the progress made by the
Group again in 2010 with its strategy of achieving lasting pro-
ductivity and efficiency gains.
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